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Vukile’s primary objective is to invest in properties
with strong contractual cash flows for long-term
sustainability, capital appreciation and growing income
distributions for linked unitholders.

3.2%
(2008: 2.8%)

VACANCIES CONTAINED AT

10.9%
(2008: 15%)

ANNUAL DISTRIBUTION INCREASES BY

R4.5bn
(2008: R4.3bn)

VALUE OF PORTFOLIO EXCEEDS
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02    |    Vukile Property Fund Limited

Corporate profile

Vukile is a property fund which was listed on the JSE Limited on
24 June 2004 (JSE code: VKE) and on the Namibian Stock
Exchange on 11 July 2007 (NSX code: VKN).  Its listing was
promoted by Sanlam, which contributed a significant share of
Vukile’s start-up portfolio and at present still holds a 23% interest
in the company.

Vukile’s market capitalisation was approximately R2.7 billion at
31 March 2009 and its property portfolio was valued at
R4.5 billion.  There are 295 550 877 Vukile units in issue.

VUKILE PROPERTY FUND LIMITED
JSE code: VKE    NSX code: VKN

2nd Floor, Meersig Building, Constantia Boulevard, Constantia Kloof, 1709
PO Box 5995, Weltevreden Park, 1715

www.vukileprops.co.za
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2009 2008
2009  Cents per 2008  Cents per

Audited year ended 31 March R000 linked unit R000 linked unit

Net profit for the year before debenture interest 301 105 275 391
Headline earnings attributable to linked unitholders 294 254 99.56 270 008 91.36
Net Asset Value (NAV) of linked units 2 679 521 907 2 631 278 890

Salient features of the results

Highlights of the year

Distribution for the year of 97.90 cents per linked unit -
up 10.9% on previous year

distribution for the year increased

Recurring cost to property revenue ratio reduced to 32.3%
from 34.1%

cost to property revenue ratio reduced

Vacancies contained at 3.2% of gross rentals

vacancies contained

Value of portfolio exceeds R4.5 billion

value of portfolio up

Successful completion of expansions at Oshakati Shopping
Centre, Nelspruit Truworths and Hellman International, on
time and below budget

completion below budget
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Chairman’s and
chief executive’s statement
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The year under review was a difficult one for the South African and global
economy, with low investor confidence, high interest and inflation rates and
the international banking crisis taking their toll on business growth.  It is
therefore particularly pleasing to report that, in spite of these very challenging
market conditions, Vukile produced another robust set of results.

The distribution to unitholders for the year was up 10.9% to 97.90 cents
compared to the previous year’s 88.25 cents.  Net profit available for distribution
increased by 9.5% from R264.6 million to R289.9 million and headline earnings
amounted to R294 million, an improvement of 9% over last year.

The sound performance is attributable to a strong performance by the group’s
underlying properties; a firm control on costs with the group’s recurring cost
to property revenue ratio improving to 32.3% from 34.1% the previous year;
and the containment of vacancy levels at 3.2% of gross rentals (2008: 2.8%).

Market conditions
The property sector came under pressure during the review period with the
SA listed property index recording a negative growth of 4.47% for the 2008
year. It is worth noting, however, that this underperformance was not driven
by property specifics but rather by a de-rating of listed property as a result
of volatile capital markets and an increase in investor risk aversion.  The SA
listed property sector’s distribution growth was approximately 12% in 2008.
Over the year, the yield on government bonds firmed and the yield on listed
property weakened, yet growth and the underlying performance of property
was resilient.

Higher interest rates have not affected the sector given the fact that most
listed property companies shield their income distribution from interest rate

“The group will continue its rigorous pursuit of cost
control, tenant retention, credit control, and energy
savings while, at the same time, enhancing the desirability
of its property portfolio.”

Gerhard van Zyl
Chief executive

Anton Botha
Chairman

Anton Botha and Gerhard van Zyl
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changes through fixed interest rate hedges.  In Vukile’s
case, virtually all our debt is either fixed or hedged and
the higher interest rates have had little effect on our cost
of debt.  Most analysts agree that we have reached the
peak of the interest rate cycle and that interest rates should
continue to decline in the second half of the year.

There has been an increase in the level of vacancy in the
commercial sector as a result of the economic slowdown
as well as some new stock entering the market.  These
factors have caused the take-up of office space to
decelerate and consequently rental growth has come
under pressure.  The retail sector continued to feel the
pinch of the economic slowdown, with increased interest
rates taking their toll on disposable income, and smaller
tenants have been the most affected.  Bad debts and
tenancy failures are expected to increase in the year ahead.
Industrial property has also been affected by the economic
slowdown in retail trade, which affects both warehousing
and distribution, and manufacturing and production levels
down on the previous year.  However, both these sectors
should recover quite quickly once interest rate cuts start
to have a positive effect on the economy.

Vacancy increases should be kept in check by the lack of
supply of new property developments given the high cost
of funding and building costs, delays in zoning processes
and the unavailability of electricity to new users.

Property management changes
The internalisation of the asset management function is
a result of Vukile’s strategy to implement world best
practice where the trend is for property companies to
manage their assets in-house.  This, together with the
proposed implementation in South Africa of the REIT
structure, will give impetus to this practice here.  Following
the conclusion of the transaction, Vukile will be responsible
for the asset management of its own property portfolio.

Vukile and Sanlam Properties have agreed to extend the
existing asset management contract between them for a
maximum period of six months to 30 September 2009 in
order to facilitate the implementation of this transaction.
This extension was approved by unitholders at a general
meeting held on 27 March this year.

Prospects
The group has posted a robust performance in the face
of adverse market conditions.  Despite the view that
interest rates will continue their downward trend and that

the economy should improve, the property cycle lags the
general economic cycle by 12 to 18 months.  We are
therefore expecting trading conditions to get worse before
they get better with vacancy levels increasing, letting time
increasing, tenants resisting higher rentals and bad debts
continuing to increase.

This negative outlook is offset to a degree by the fact that
property fundamentals still remain fairly healthy.  There are
also some signs that the worst of the downturn has already
been seen and that general business conditions could
start improving from here onwards which could cushion
any further deterioration in market conditions.  In addition,
the group will continue its rigorous pursuit of cost control,
tenant retention, credit control, and energy savings while,
at the same time, enhancing the desirability of its property
portfolio through the renovation and refurbishment of its
existing buildings.

Barring any further deterioration in trading conditions, the
group expects reasonable growth in distributions for the
year ahead.

Acknowledgement
Given the current business climate, it gives us great
pleasure to acknowledge publicly the people who
contributed to the group’s creditable performance.  Firstly
we would like to thank our tenants for their continued
support.  Without them, we would not have a business
and we would not have been able to produce the results
that we have delivered.  Secondly, we would like to thank
the funders of our business, namely our bankers (ABSA
and Nedbank), as well as our bondholders and unitholders.

We also wish to record our appreciation to our external
service providers, Sanlam Properties, Gensec Property
Services trading as JHI Real Estate, Hermans & Roman
Property Solutions, Kuper Legh Property Management
and Old Mutual Investment Group Property Investments,
who look after the day to day management of our
properties.  We thank these companies as well as our
other business partners, notably the broking and
development community, for their contribution to Vukile’s
success.

Finally, we would like to thank our fellow directors for their
wise counsel and support and our staff for a job well done.

Johannesburg
25 May 2009

R289.9m
(2008: R264.6 million)

32.3%
(2008: 34.1%)

NET PROFIT AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION

RECURRING COST TO PROPERTY REVENUE RATIO

U
nitho

ld
ers’ info

rm
atio

n

F
inancial statem

ents



Directors’ review of operations
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Financial results
Group profit available for distribution has increased from R264.6 million to
R289.9 million, an increase of 9.5%.

The distribution for the full year ended 31 March 2009 is 97.90 cents per
linked unit, an increase of 10.9% over the previous year’s distribution of
88.25 cents per linked unit.

The 9.65 cents per linked unit increase in distributions year-on-year is made
up as follows:

2009 2008
Cents per Cents per
linked unit linked unit

Contributions to increased
rental income

Reduction in vacancies and
increased rentals 13.9 13.7
Additional rentals from prior
year property acquisition 3.4 4.2
Additional municipal service
recoveries and other 3.4 2.0

20.7 19.9
Increase in property expenditure (9.0) (4.4)
Net increase in group property
revenue 11.7 15.5
(Increased)/reduced net finance
costs (2.7) 4.1
Reduced/(increased) administrative
expenses, taxation and retained
income 0.65 (3.5)
Adjustment for an increase in
weighted average number of linked
units in issue - (4.6)
Net increase in distribution 9.65 11.5

The net asset value of the group increased over the reporting period by 1.9%,
from 890 cents per unit to 907 cents per unit on 31 March 2009.
The change in net asset value per linked unit, based on 295 550 877 units
in issue at year end, is set out in the NAV Bridge graph on page 8.

The group net cash flow, reflecting the composition of cash generated and
utilised during the year under review, is set out in the graph on page 8.

Net property revenue, excluding straight-line rental income accrual, increased
from R403.9 million to R437.7 million or 8.4%, primarily as a result of good
rental escalations and improved recoveries of electricity and municipal
consumption costs.  If acquisitions and disposals are excluded, on a “like for
like” basis, group net property revenue increased by 9.2% from 2008 to 2009.

Group corporate administration expenditure of R20.1 million is in line with
the prior year.

Group finance costs, net of interest income, have increased from
R114.8 million to R122.6 million largely as a result of an increase in long-term
borrowings of R53 million utilised to finance capital expenditure.

“Net property revenue, excluding straight-line rental
income accrual, increased from R403.9 million to
R437.7 million or 8.4%.”
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Liquidity
During the 12 months ended 31 March 2009, 94.1 million linked units were traded (2008: 47 million linked units) which equates
to approximately 7.8 million linked units per month.  This represents 61% of the free-float, when evaluated against the
background that approximately 50% of the linked units are not traded.

Property portfolio
The group property portfolio as at 31 March 2009 consisted of 74 properties with a gross lettable area of 920 232m2.  Full
details of the property portfolio appear on pages 59-61 of this annual report.

Expansions and revamps
The cost of expansions, revamps and tenant installations for the year ended 31 March 2009 amounted to R92 million.  The
following expansion and revamp projects have been completed within the anticipated programmes and with savings of
approximately R4.3 million compared to the approved capital outlay.

Capital Forecast
Date of expenditure initial

Property completion  R000 yield (%)

Oshakati Game Centre Nov 08 24 275 7.5
Hellman International (Courier IT ) Gauteng Oct 08 14 300 9.6
Nelspruit Truworths Oct 08 8 700 9.5

Total 47 275 8.5

The following major revamps/income protecting capital projects are currently underway.

Budgeted
Estimated capital

date of expenditure
Property completion  R000

Dobsonville Shopping Centre May 09 16 700
Durban Phoenix Plaza Apr 09 27 300

Total 44 000

The top 25 properties by value are as follows:

Directors’
valuation

at 31 March
Rentable 2009

Location area (m2) R000

Phoenix Plaza Durban 24 162 356 645
Randburg Square Randburg 51 370 250 943
Durban Embassy Durban 32 346 209 021
Pine Crest (50%) Pinetown 40 485 195 120
Louis Leipoldt Hospital Bellville 22 311 156 891
Dobsonville Shopping Centre Soweto 23 124 151 145
Arivia.kom Building Midrand 15 634 133 742
Roodepoort Hillfox Power Centre Roodepoort 36 103 127 438
Route 24 Industrial Park Germiston 34 977 126 204
Bloemfontein Plaza & Parkade Bloemfontein 38 438 120 772
Daveyton Shopping Centre Daveyton 16 983 118 751
Oshakati Shopping Centre Oshakati 22 001 117 035
BPI House Windhoek 12 841 105 377
Randburg Trevallyn Randburg 32 006 104 097
Meadowdale Mall Germiston 35 339   96 340
The Victoria Centre Pietermaritzburg 10 682   87 010
VWL Building Pretoria 16 933   85 608
Kokstad Game Centre Kokstad 12 567   75 806
Moratiwa Crossing Jane Furse, Limpopo 12 356   73 961
Mutual & Federal Pretoria 12 093   66 247
Midrand Allandale Park Midrand 21 395   64 528
Sanlam Park East London East London   9 069   62 659
Oakhurst Parktown Johannesburg   9 085   60 084
JHB Eva Park Johannesburg 10 918   59 734
Truworths Building Johannesburg   6 919   59 583

Total    560 137   3 064 741

Percentage of total portfolio   60.9% 67.6%
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Directors’ review of operations (continued)

Group net cash flow
for the 12 months ended 31 March 2009 (R000)
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Retail 48

Industrial 29

Commercial 23

Sectoral profile (% of GLA)

Geographical profile (% of gross rentals)

Gauteng 46

KwaZulu-Natal 27

Western Cape 7

Namibia 8

Free State 4

Mpumalanga 3

Limpopo 3

Eastern Cape 1

North West 1

Geographical profile (% of GLA)

Gauteng 57

KwaZulu-Natal 19

Western Cape 7

Namibia 7

Free State 4

Mpumalanga 2

Limpopo 2

Eastern Cape 1

North West 1

Sectoral profile (% of gross rentals)

Retail 57

Industrial 15

Commercial 28

Portfolio tenant profile (%)

Large national 50
and listed
tenants,
government and
major franchises

National and 11
listed tenants,
franchises and
medium to large
professional firms

Other 39

Vacancy profile (% of gross rentals)

Retail 3.0

Industrial 3.3

Commercial 3.2

Total 3.2

0 0.5 1.0 1.5 2.0 2.5 3.0 3.5

Sectoral valuation of portfolio (R/m2)

Retail 5 778

Industrial 2 885

Commercial 6 259

Average 5 044

0 1 000 2 000 3 000 4 000 5 000 6 000 7 000

Recurring cost to property revenue ratio (%)

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40

Historical sectoral rental escalation (%)

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Industrial - expired lease 9.7

Industrial - new/renewals 9.8

Commercial - expired lease 9.5

Commercial - new/renewals 9.3

Retail - new/renewals 9.3

Retail - expired lease 9.5

2009 32.3

2008 34.1

2007 35.4

2006 35.6
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Rent escalation profile -
average annual escalation
(% of gross rentals)

Retail 6.7

Industrial 8.7

Commercial 7.5

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9

Commercial lease expiry profile (% of GLA)

Vacant Mar 10 Mar 11 Mar 12 Mar 13 Mar 14 Mar 15 Beyond

5 27 38 12 13 5 0 0

5 32 70 82 95 100 100 100

100

80

60

40

20

0

10    |    Vukile Property Fund Limited

Directors’ review of operations (continued)

Tenant exposure (% of GLA)

Government 7.9

Pepkor Holdings 2.7

Edgars Consolidated Stores Ltd 2.1

Massmart Holdings Ltd 1.8

Pick n Pay Stores 1.6

FirstRand Ltd 1.3

Foschini Ltd 1.0

Mr Price Group Ltd 0.9

Woolworths 0.8

Sanlam Ltd 0.8

Plumblink 0.7

Virgin Group 0.7

The Bidvest Group Ltd 0.5

Ellerine Holdings Ltd 0.5

Santam 0.4

Nedcor 0.3

Lewis Group 0.2

Style Clothing 0.2

Sandown Motors Holdings 0.2

Simply Shoes 0.2

Morkels 0.1

Cape Medical 0.1

African Bank Investments 0.1

Wimpy 0.1

Chickenland 0.1

Specsavers 0.1

Steers 0.1

Group lease expiry profile (% of GLA)

Vacant Mar 10 Mar 11 Mar 12 Mar 13 Mar 14 Mar 15 Beyond

3 29 24 20 10 7 3 4

3 32 56 76 86 93 96 100

GLA

Cumulative
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Industrial lease expiry profile (% of GLA)
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Retail lease expiry profile (% of GLA)
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Industrial average gross rental
as at 31 March 2009 (R/m2)
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Retail average gross rental
as at 31 March 2009 (R/m2)

0 20 40 60 80 100 120 140 160

Rundu Ellerines 7

Truworths Centre Nelspruit 90

Nelspruit Game Centre 86

Oshikango 74

Botbyl Subaru Building Hatfield 71

Katatura Shoprite Checkers Centre 66

BPI House 70

Truworths Building Jhb 67

Daveyton Shopping Centre 60

Dobsonville Shopping Centre 63

Mala Plaza 65

Hillcrest Centre Cresta 37

Moratiwa Crossing 63

Piet Retief Shopping Centre 57

Ondangwa Shoprite Checkers 54

Oshakati Shopping Centre 51

Katima Mulilo Pep Stores 52

Kokstad Game Centre 51

Masingita Spar Centre 46

Pongola Shopping Centre 45

Randburg Square 44

Bloemfontein Plaza & Parkade 44

Roodepoort Hillfox Power Centre 35

Lichtenburg Shopping Centre 36

Germiston Meadowdale Mall 31

Midrand Sanitary City 32

Oshakati Beares Furniture 20

Barlows Audi - Kenilworth 109

Qualbert Centre 96

Pine Crest 84

Grosvenor Shopping Centre 84

The Victoria Centre - Pietermaritzburg 76

Commercial average gross rental
as at 31 March 2009 (R/m2)

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

Sony Building (Midrand) 47

Hellman International 43

Centurion N1 34

Randburg Tungsten 33

AAD (Goodwood) 33

Richmond Park 32

Randburg Trevallyn 30

Ndabeni Business Park 29

Midrand Allandale Park 28

Germiston R24 28

Parow Industrial Park 23

Village Main Industrial Park 24

Valley View Industrial Park 23

John Griffin (2 6th Street Wynberg) 14

Atlas Road Complex 21

Roodepoort Robertville Mini Factories 23

Durban Phoenix Plaza 141

Nelspruit Prorom 53

Jhb Eva Park 52

259 West Street Centurion 52

East London Sanlam Park 50

Glencairn Building Eloff Street 49

227 Andries Street Pretoria 48

Midtown Building 46

Randburg Triangle 43

Benoni Kleinfontein Offices 37

Bedfordview GIS 36

Mutual and Federal Pretoria 34

Jhb Parktown Oakhurst 62

Pinepark Pinelands 63

De Tijger Office Park 61

Belville Louis Leipoldt 58

Arivia.kom Building Midrand 60

VWL Building 54

Durban Embassy 56

DLV Building 20

Jhb Houghton 2446 68

Barlow Place Rivonia 75

Hyde Park 50 Sixth Road 111

Waymark 72

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

Supra Hino 48
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Directors’ review of operations (continued)

Portfolio analysis
The geographical and sectoral distribution of the group’s
portfolio are indicated in the graphs on page 9.  The
portfolio is well represented in most of the provinces, with
the bulk in Gauteng and KwaZulu-Natal.

The vacancy as at 31 March 2009 is reflected as 3.2% of
gross rentals and includes the 2 922m2 vacancy at the
Allandale mini-factory and warehouse expansion.  At this
stage, 2 728m2 of the expansion of 5 650m2 has been
let.  If this vacancy is excluded the year end vacancy, as
a percentage of gross rentals, reduces to 3%.

Vacancy profile of individual properties

Properties % of GLA

Grosvenor Shopping Centre 3
Benoni Kleinfontein Offices 3
Dobsonville Shopping Centre 1
Randburg Trevallyn 1
Jhb Houghton 2446 6
259 West Street Centurion 5
Katatura Shoprite Checkers 3
The Victoria Centre -
Pietermaritzburg 3
Durban Embassy 1
Masingita Spar Centre 6
Botbyl Subaru Building
Hatfield 9
Daveyton Shopping Centre 2
Nelspruit Prorom 7
Pine Crest 1
Randburg Tungsten 5
Lichtenburg Shopping Centre 6
Glencairn Building Eloff
Street 4
Kokstad Game Centre 4
De Tijger Office Park 14
Pongola Shopping Centre 6
BPI House 6
Germiston R24 3
Centurion N1 9
Oshakati Shopping Centre 5
Rundu Ellerines 88
Jhb Eva Park 14
Randburg Square 3
Germiston Meadowdale Mall 5
Parow Industrial Park 9
DLV Building 73
Hillcrest Centre Cresta 47
Roodepoort Hillfox Power
Centre 8
Midrand Allandale Park 15

The lease expiry profile of the group indicates that
approximately 38% of the industrial leases expire during
the coming year, with approximately 22% expiring the
following year.  This is typical of industrial leases.  The
expiry percentages for the commercial and retail sectors
for the year ending 31 March 2010 are 27% and 22%
respectively and indicate no major risk areas.  New leases
and renewals of 186 960m2, with a contract value of
R418 million, were concluded during the year.  80% of
leases that expired during the year ended 31 March 2009,
were renewed.

The estimated average annual escalations of the
gross rental income of the portfolio for the year ending
31 March 2010 are 6.7% (retail), 8.7% (industrial) and
7.5% (commercial).

The above escalations do not take into account additional
rental income from new acquisitions and/or expansion
projects.

The bulk of our leases are with government, national and
listed tenants, franchises and medium to large professional
firms (approximately 61% of GLA).  This gives stability to
and lowers the risk of the portfolio.

Investment properties
Analysis of movement in group investment properties

R000

Investment properties at
31 March 2008 4 330 998
Acquisitions and development
costs capitalised 56 353
Capital expenditure and
tenant installations 35 336
Valuation surplus on investment
properties 121 713
Lease commissions capitalised 1 331
Investment properties at
31 March 2009 4 545 731

Borrowings
The company’s borrowing capacity is, in terms of its
articles of association, unlimited.  The board policy is to
limit gearing to 45% of the value of investment properties.
The group’s gearing ratio at the end of the financial year
was 28.5% compared to the bank and securitisation
covenants of 50% and 65% respectively.  The group has
unutilised bank facilities of R419 million, which together
with a corresponding 55% equity issue, is available to
fund acquisitions, redevelopment and expansion
opportunities amounting to R931 million.  93% of the
group’s total interest bearing debt was hedged at year-
end at a weighted average rate of 10.3% per annum.
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The borrowings and particulars of interest rate swaps are
detailed in note 15 of the notes to the annual financial
statements contained on pages 41 to 43 of this annual
report.

Transformation
The board of Vukile remains firmly committed to the
transformation of the company in line with the requirements
of the Code of Good Practice as published by the DTI in
February 2007.  In this regard, Vukile has obtained the
services of National Empowerment Rating Agency (NERA),
a registered verification agency in terms of the Broad-
Based Black Economic Empowerment Act 53 of 2003,
to perform a BEE verification for the company as soon as
possible after the announcement of the results for the year
ended 31 March 2009.  This process has commenced
and the results thereof will be communicated to linked
unitholders as soon as they are available.

In addition, the company is pursuing a number of
investment and/or development opportunities in conjunction

with some of the members of Lazarus Capital (Proprietary)
Limited (formerly Clidet No. 598), the BEE group which
owns 25% of the linked units of Vukile.  It is envisaged
that some of these opportunities could result in substantial
investments for the company when conditions for
investment improve.

Insourcing of asset management functions
Vukile announced on 3 March 2009 that its board of
directors had approved the decision to internalise Vukile’s
asset management function, currently performed by Sanlam
Properties.  The unitholders of Vukile recently approved
the extension of the asset management agreement by six
months to 30 September 2009.

In this regard, the discussions entered into between Vukile
and Sanlam Properties regarding the purchase by Vukile
from Sanlam Properties of the IT infrastructure and software,
furniture and equipment and the take-on of certain
employees directly related to the asset management
function of the Vukile property portfolio as a going concern,
are expected to be finalised shortly.
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Board of directors
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1 Anton Dirk Botha (55) Chairman
BCom, BProc, BCom (Hons), Stanford Executive
Programme

Anton is a director and co-owner of Imalivest, an investment
group that manages proprietary capital provided by its
owners, the Imalivest Flexible Fund and a private hedge
fund.  He also serves as a non-executive director on the
boards of the JSE Limited, The University of Pretoria,
Sanlam Limited and Sanlam subsidiaries.  He is a past
president of the Afrikaanse Handelsinstituut and is actively
involved in organised business.  Anton spent most of
his career building Gensec into a leading South African
investment banking group.  Before becoming a wholly
owned subsidiary of Sanlam Limited in December 2000,
Gensec had a market capitalisation of R10 billion and was
one of the 40 largest listed companies in South Africa.

2 Sidney Bernic (55)
Sidney has been involved in the property industry for the
past 28 years.  Since 1980 he has built a large group of
private companies operating in healthcare, insurance,
manufacturing, property and investments.

3 Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester (58)
BCom (Hons), FIA, AMP

Hendrik was a senior general manager and later an
executive director of Sanlam between 1997 and 2000.
Before 1997, he held various positions in the Sanlam
group.  Other previous directorships include Gensec,
Sankorp, Sanlam Unit Trusts, Sanlam Properties, SA Retail
and SAGDB.  He is a past president of SAPOA, a former
director of the Board of Quantity Surveyors and served
on the Van Huysteen Commission on government
properties.  Hendrik also serves on the board of Barnard
Jacobs Mellet Holdings.

4 Peter John Cook (62)
BSc Eng, MBA

Peter retired as an executive director of Sanlam Capital
Markets (previously named Gensec Bank) and of its parent,
Genbel Securities, in June 2005.  He continues to serve
as a non-executive director of, and consultant to, both
companies, and as a non-executive director of other
Sanlam subsidiaries.  He was the deputy chief executive
of Gensec Bank from 2001 to 2004, and the Genbel
Securities executive director responsible for finance, risk
management and all other support functions from 1997
to 2000.  From 1993 to 1997, Peter was the finance and
administration director at Engen.  From 1975 to 1993, he
held various managerial positions in Gencor and was a
member of its executive committee from 1988 to 1993.

5 Jonathan Mlungisi Hlongwane (45)
Mlungisi is a director and shareholder of Sakhisizwe
Holdings, which owns a commercial property portfolio
across the country, both in the unlisted and listed property
sectors.  Over the last two years, he has been instrumental
in securing investments in previously disadvantaged areas.
He has been involved in civic and community movements
since 1979 and has served at various levels within the
South African National Civic Organisation (SANCO).

6 Peter Sipho Moyanga (44)
Peter is a well-recognised expert in the field of franchising,
property and business development.  He was employed
by McDonalds Corporation in 1995 where his initial
functions were as a senior property network developer
responsible for strategic physical brand positioning.  In
1999, Peter was appointed franchising manager for
McDonalds (South Africa) (Proprietary) Limited and later
in 2001 he was promoted to multidepartment head,
responsible for field service, information and technology
department, operations development and franchising.

7 Michael John Potts (54) Financial director
CA(SA), HDip Tax Law (Wits)

Michael was previously an independent advisor to the
Bridge Capital Group on property transactions, property
portfolio assembly, financial structuring and capital raising.
Prior to that, he was managing and financial director of
the South African company that forms part of the UK-
based Hanover Acceptances Group and was involved in
the restructuring of the South African group and the
introduction of effective management reporting systems
and strategic planning methodologies.  He was also a
non-executive director of Hanover Acceptances Limited
(United Kingdom) and Outspan International Limited for
six and seven years respectively.

8 Mervyn Hymie Serebro (62)
Mervyn is the chief executive officer of Vusani Property
Investments, a fully empowered privately held consortium
embracing retail and commercial properties.  Mervyn spent
32 years with the OK Bazaars Group within which he held
a number of key positions and directorships, including
that of group managing director.  Mervyn was integrally
involved in the establishment of a South African Bone
Marrow Registry after the untimely death of his son Darren
of leukemia.  He is also the vice chairman of Reach For
A Dream.

9 Urbanus Johannes van der Walt (58)
B Econ (Hons), Advanced Executive Programme

Banus is the managing director of Sanlam Properties and
was previously the managing director of Gensec Property
Services for seven years.  Banus has 38 years’ property
experience with the Sanlam Group.  He is an executive
committee member of Sanlam Investment Management,
the holding company of Sanlam Properties.  He has
travelled extensively to study the property industry, both
locally and internationally.  Banus is a past president of
the South African Property Owners Association (SAPOA)
and has been a non-executive director of Martprop,
Acucap, SA Retail and iFour.

10 Gerhard van Zyl (49) Chief executive
B Eng (Hons) Hons B (B & A), MBA

Gerhard has 18 years’ experience in the property industry
and was the president of SAPOA during 2003/2004.  He
worked at the Department of Water Affairs of Namibia
from 1984 to 1985 whereafter he studied full time towards
an MBA degree at the University of Stellenbosch.  Following
this, he was appointed as senior engineer at MBB
Consulting Engineers.  Between 1988 and 2003, he held
various positions in the Sanlam Group and was managing
director of Gensec Property Services prior to joining Vukile.



1

3

10

2

8

6

9 4

7

5

U
nitho

ld
ers’ info

rm
atio

n

F
inancial statem

ents



Corporate governance
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Introduction
The directors of Vukile Property Fund Limited believe in and support good
corporate governance.  In South Africa, the King Code of Corporate Practice
and Conduct recommends how companies should address corporate
governance issues and the directors of Vukile endorse these recommendations
fully.  The company has implemented the relevant recommendations, adjusted
for its specific circumstances.

Board of directors
The board has a formal written charter that has been designed taking into
account legislative requirements, King II recommendations and best practice.

The main functions of the board covered by the charter are:
Determining the overall objectives of the company, developing the
strategies to meet those objectives and monitoring performance.
Balancing the interests of all stakeholders of the company.
Determining and reviewing mandates and terms of reference of board
committees.
Appointing the CEO and delegating authority.
Monitoring performance of the CEO and directors.
Approving and reviewing company policies.
Approving other major company activities, including directors’
remuneration, capital funding, the financial statements, acquisitions,
sales and capital expenditure in terms of an approval framework
approved by the board.
Ensuring that a budgeting process exists and measuring actual
performance against budgets.
Taking ultimate responsibility for the adequacy of operational and financial
systems as well as regulatory compliance.
Any other non-financial issues that have not specifically been mandated
to any sub-committee.

The board of Vukile consists of eight non-executive and two executive
directors.  The chairman is a non-executive director.  The board meets at
least four times a year.  Remuneration of non-executive directors is subject
to the recommendations of the human resources and nomination committee
to the board and, from time to time, approved at the annual general meeting.

Five of the eight non-executive directors are independent and, as such, not
subject to any relationship that might interfere with the execution of their
independent judgement.  Their wide-ranging business experience enables
them to contribute materially to the company’s affairs.

One third of non-executive directors have to retire annually by rotation and,
if eligible, become available for re-election.  Non-executive directors are
obliged to retire at the annual general meeting following their 65th birthday.

The chairman or the chief executive has to approve any buy or sell transactions
of directors in the linked units of Vukile (whether directly or indirectly).  Directors’
and employees’ dealings in the company’s linked units are subject to the
rules and requirements of the JSE.

The directors of Vukile Property Fund Limited believe in
and support good corporate governance.
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Board committees
Audit and risk committee
The committee consists of four independent non-executive
directors.  Meetings are held at least three times a year
and the internal and external auditors attend the meetings
by invitation.  The committee has its own terms of reference
and there is an external and internal audit charter regulating
the interaction with the external and internal auditors.  The
terms of reference of the committee for the company,
MICC Property Income Fund Limited and MICC Properties
(Proprietary) Limited include, inter alia, the appointment
or termination of the services of internal and external
auditors, the fees payable to the internal and external
auditors, the nature and extent of non-audit services which
may be provided by the external auditors, the review and
approval of financial policies (and any changes thereto),
the review of audit recommendations and the review of
the interim and annual financial statements prior to
submission to the board.  The audit and risk committee’s
duties also include:

Approving the terms of engagement of the external
auditors.
Verifying the independence of any proposed
appointee as auditor, before the appointment
becomes final.
Pre-approval of contracts for non-audit services.
Dealing with concerns or complaints relating to the
following:

accounting policies;
internal audit;
the audit or content of annual financial
statements; and
internal financial controls.

Evaluating the effectiveness of risk management,
controls and governance processes.
Reviewing the appropriateness of the expertise and
experience of the financial director.

The chairman, chief executive and the financial director
are invited to attend all meetings.

After obtaining information as to their policies, processes
and procedures the audit and risk committee is satisfied
that the auditors, Grant Thornton, are independent of the
group and that these financial statements are in compliance
with the provisions of applicable legislation.

Human resources and nomination committee
The committee consists of four non-executive directors
and meets at least twice a year.  The chief executive officer
is invited to attend the meetings.  The terms of reference
of the committee include, inter alia, the following:

The determination and review of the company’s
human resource philosophy and principles.
The company’s remuneration policy.
Performance measurement policy.
The recommendation to the board of discretionary
bonuses and the annual percentage salary increase
of staff and executives.
The recommendation to the board on the
remuneration of non-executive directors.
Recommendations to the board on the appointment
of new executive as well as non-executive directors.
Succession planning for the chairman and chief
executive positions.

Investment committee
The committee consists of four non-executive directors
and two executive directors and meets as and when
required.

The purpose and function of the investment committee
is:

To consider recommendations from management
for acquisitions, capital expenditure or disposals.
To authorise and approve such transactions and
capital expenditure as falls within its approval
mandate.
To make recommendations to the board regarding
transactions and capital expenditure that falls outside
its approval mandate.

Internal control
It is the board’s responsibility to oversee the group’s
system of internal control and to keep its effectiveness
under review.  The system is designed to manage, rather
than eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives and can provide only a reasonable, rather than
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The board has established an ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks
of the group. This has been in place throughout the year
ended 31 March 2009 and is regularly reviewed by the
audit and risk committee and the board.  Vukile has
appointed KPMG to conduct internal audit functions based
on key risk areas on a regular basis and to report to the
audit and risk committee.

The board regularly receives reports setting out key financial
performance indicators.  Monitoring of key indicators
assists the board to consider control issues.

Approval framework
The company functions within the bounds of a formal
approval framework approved by the board.  The approval
framework covers the signing powers of all authorities
and approval bodies within the group as well as for the
service providers.

Company secretary
All directors have access to the advice and services of
the company secretary, who provides guidance to the
board as a whole and to individual directors with regard
to how their responsibilities should properly be discharged
in the best interests of the company.  The secretary also
oversees the appointment of new directors and assists
the chairman and the chief executive in determining the
annual board plan and formulating governance and board
related issues.

Going concern
The board has considered and recorded the facts and
assumptions on which it relies to conclude that the business
will continue as a going concern in the financial year ahead.
The directors are of the opinion that the business will be
a going concern in the year ahead.

Appropriateness and experience of the
financial director
The audit and risk committee resolved that the expertise
and experience of the financial director is considered to
be appropriate for the requirements of the group.

Ethics
The directors and staff of Vukile are required to adhere to
the highest ethical standards, as embodied in the written
code of ethics of the company, thereby ensuring that
business practices are conducted in a manner which is
beyond reproach.
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1 AND 3 WEST STREET(1)

LOCATION 1-3 West Street
 Houghton, Gauteng

GROSS LETTABLE AREA 4 415m2

OCCUPANCY 93.83%
DIRECTORS’ VALUATION R36.2 million

50 SIXTH ROAD(2)

LOCATION 50 Sixth Road
Hyde Park, Gauteng

GROSS LETTABLE AREA 4 181m2

OCCUPANCY 100%
DIRECTORS’ VALUATION R58.1 million

2 2



DURBAN EMBASSY(3)

LOCATION 199 Smith Street
Durban, KwaZulu-Natal

GROSS LETTABLE AREA 32 346m2

OCCUPANCY 99.03%
DIRECTORS’ VALUATION R209.0 million

For the top 25 properties refer to page 7 and for the property portfolio refer to pages 59 to 61.
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Directors’ responsibility statement

The annual financial statements on pages 22 to 55 are the responsibility of the
directors.  The directors are responsible for selecting and adopting sound accounting
practices, for maintaining an adequate and effective system of accounting records,
for the safeguarding of assets, and for developing and maintaining a system of
internal controls that, amongst other things, will ensure the preparation of financial
statements that achieve fair presentation.  After conducting appropriate procedures,
the directors are satisfied that the company will be a going concern for the
foreseeable future and have continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the financial statements.  The annual financial statements were approved by the
directors and are signed on their behalf by:

Roodepoort
25 May 2009

Gerhard van Zyl
Chief executive

Anton Botha
Chairman

Emma Yates
Company secretary

Declaration by the company secretary

The company secretary hereby certifies, in accordance with Section 268(g) of the
Companies Act, that all returns required have been lodged with the Registrar of
Companies and that all such returns are true and correct.

Roodepoort
25 May 2009
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Independent auditors’ report
to the linked unitholders of Vukile Property Fund Limited

Report on the financial statements
We have audited the accompanying group annual financial statements and
separate annual financial statements of Vukile Property Fund Limited, which
comprise the directors’ report, the consolidated and separate balance sheets
as at 31 March 2009, the consolidated and separate income statements,
the consolidated and separate statements of changes in equity and
consolidated and separate cash flow statements for the year then ended and
notes which include a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 22 to 55.

Directors’ responsibility for the annual financial statements
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation
of these annual financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, and in the manner required by the Companies Act of
South Africa.  This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and
maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of annual financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
whether the annual financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected
depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the annual financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the annual financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Vukile Property Fund Limited as of 31 March
2009, and of its consolidated and separate financial performance and its
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the manner required
by the Companies Act of South Africa.

Grant Thornton
Chartered Accountants (SA)
Registered Auditors

Per: V R de Villiers
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Registered Auditor

137 Daisy Street
Sandown
Johannesburg
2196

25 May 2009
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Directors’ report

Overview
Your directors have pleasure in submitting their fifth directors’ report, which forms
part of the audited annual financial statements of the group and company for the
year ended 31 March 2009.

Vukile was listed on 24 June 2004 with a market capitalisation of approximately
R1.3 billion.  The company’s primary objective was, and still is, to acquire properties
with strong contractual cash flows in order to achieve meaningful capital appreciation,
long-term sustainability and growth in income distributions for its linked unitholders.
The company’s market capitalisation has increased substantially to R2.7 billion as
at 31 March 2009, an annualised increase of 17.6% from the date of listing.

It is pleasing to announce that the group has performed well over the review period
and that profit available for distribution has increased by 9.5% from R264.6 million
to R289.9 million at 31 March 2009.

Summary of financial performance and distributions
The information presented for the 12 months ended 31 March 2009 has been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”)
and the company’s accounting policies.  The results also comply with the relevant
sections of the South African Companies Act, 1973, as amended.  The annual
financial statements have been audited by Grant Thornton.

The net profit before tax, debenture interest and fair value adjustment for the
group for the year ended 31 March 2009 amounted to R301.1 million
(2008: R275.4 million).

The board has approved a final distribution of 53.80 cents per linked unit for the
six months ended 31 March 2009, which brings the total distribution for the
12 months ended 31 March 2009 to 97.90 cents per linked unit compared to the
distribution of 88.25 cents per linked unit in 2008, an increase of 10.9% for the
year and an increase of 12% over the comparable six month period.

Nature of business
Vukile is a property holding and investment company through the direct and indirect
ownership of immovable property.  These properties are complementary in terms
of type and geographical spread.  The company is listed on the JSE Limited and
the NSX in Namibia under the Real Estate sector.

Capital structure
The linked unit structure comprises ordinary shares indivisibly linked to debentures
on a one to one basis.  Collectively, the linked shares and debentures comprise
the linked units which are traded together as indivisible units.

The authorised capital comprises 400 000 000 ordinary shares with a par value
of one cent each.  Each linked unit comprises one share of one cent (and a share
premium of nine cents) linked to one debenture of 490 cents.  Interest payable on
one debenture is 499 times greater than the dividend payable per share.  There
were 295 550 887 linked units in issue at 31 March 2009.

Borrowings
Loan covenant restrictions imposed in terms of securitisation contracts allow for
a 65% loan to value (“LTV”) ratio, whilst bank debt carries an LTV ratio upper limit
of 50%.  Notwithstanding the above, the directors have adopted a strategy to
maintain gearing below 45%.  The current group LTV ratio is 28.5%.

“The company’s primary objective is to acquire properties
with strong contractual cash flows in order to achieve
meaningful capital appreciation, long-term sustainability
and growth in income distributions for its linked
unitholders.”
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Management and administration
The management of Vukile is responsible for the high-
level asset management functions of the company.  Asset
management services are outsourced to Sanlam Properties
(Proprietary) Limited (“Sanlam Properties”) on a contract,
the terms and conditions of which are reviewed on a five-
year basis.  The outsourced asset management services
include, inter alia, the following:

Appointment of property administrators and
managing the property administration contracts.
Preparation of business plans for the properties.
Preparation of budgets for the properties, including
benchmarking.
Drafting and updating of the selling strategy.
Management strategies and letting strategies for
approval by Vukile.
Six monthly property valuations.
Advising on the replacement value of the buildings.
Performance analysis of the portfolio.
Building life cycle forecasting.

The asset management fee to Sanlam Properties is
calculated at 0.35% of the enterprise value of Vukile as
defined in the asset management agreement.  This fee
can be increased to 0.40% or reduced to 0.30%,
depending on the performance of Vukile relative to a peer
group consisting of comparable PLS companies listed on
the JSE Limited Real Estate Sector.  For details of asset
management fees paid to Sanlam Properties refer to
notes 21 and 29.

The abovementioned contract expired on 31 March 2009
and has, with unitholders’ consent, been extended for a
six month period to 30 September 2009 to allow
management sufficient time to internalise this function.

Special resolutions
The following special resolutions were passed during the
period under review:

General authority for the directors of the company
to approve the repurchase to a maximum of 20%
in aggregate of the company’s issued capital in any
one financial year.

The directors of the company were authorised to
hold small cash dividends due to members of the
company who hold securities in certificated form in
trust and release accumulated dividends at the point
such accumulated dividends exceeded a minimum
value determined at the discretion of the directors.
Such returned amounts can also be released to
members at their specific request.

Subsidiaries
Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in note
6 on pages 37 and 38 of this annual report.

Net profit/(loss) after taxation of subsidiaries included in
the group is as follows:

R000 2009 2008

MICC Property
Income Fund Limited
and its consolidated
subsidiaries  27 599 (6 214)
Vukile Investment
Properties Securiti-
sation (Proprietary)
Limited (VIPS) 137 121

Directors
Details of the directors, providing the full names, ages,
qualifications and a brief curriculum vitae, are set out on
page 14 of this annual report.

Composition of the board and sub-committees
The composition of the board of directors and its sub-
committees are detailed in the table below.  In terms of
the articles of association of the company, one third of
non-executive directors have to retire annually by rotation.
Any new directors that have been appointed during a year,
also have to retire at the next annual general meeting.
Non-executive directors are obliged to retire at the annual
general meeting following their 65th birthday.  All retiring
directors will subsequently be eligible for re-election.

Board of directors

Human
resources

Audit and
Date of and risk nomination Investment

Composition of board appointment committee  committee committee

Non-executive directors
Anton Dirk Botha (Chairman) 17/05/04 Member
Sidney Bernic(c) 17/05/04 Member Member
Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester(c,d) 17/05/04 Chairman Member
Peter John Cook(c) 17/05/04 Member Chairman
Peter Sipho Moyanga(c) 17/05/04 Member
Mervyn Hymie Serebro(c) 17/05/04 Member Chairman
Jonathan Mlungisi Hlongwane 29/05/06 Member Member
Banus van der Walt 06/09/07

Executive directors
Gerhard van Zyl (CEO) 24/04/04 Member
Michael John Potts (FD) 17/05/04 Member

(a)

(b)

Refer to legend on page 24.
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Directors’ report (continued)

Attendance of meetings

Special Attended Scheduled Attended

Board of directors
Anton Dirk Botha (Chairman) 1     0 4 4
Sidney Bernic 1   0 4   3
Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester 1 1 4 4
Peter John Cook 1 1 4 4
Peter Sipho Moyanga 1 1 4 4
Mervyn Hymie Serebro 1 1 4 4
Jonathan Mlungisi Hlongwane 1 1 4 4
Banus van der Walt  1      0 4 4
Gerhard van Zyl (CEO) 1 1 4 4
Michael John Potts (FD) 1 1 4 4

Audit and risk committee
Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester 3 3
Peter John Cook 3 3
Mervyn Hymie Serebro 3 3
Peter Sipho Moyanga 3 3

Human resources and nomination committee
Anton Dirk Botha(a) 2 2
Sidney Bernic 2 2
Peter John Cook(b) 2 2
Jonathan Mlungisi Hlongwane 2   1

Investment committee
All investment opportunities approved during the year were approved on a round-robin basis and ratified at the following board
meeting.

(a) Resigned as chairman of the human resources and nomination committee on 18 March 2009
(b) Appointed as chairman of the human resources and nomination committee on 18 March 2009
(c) Independent
(d) Appointed as lead independent director on 18 March 2009
(e) Recused from meeting
(f) With accepted apologies

(e)

(f) (f)

(f)

Directors’ remuneration

Total Total
remuneration  remuneration

 per income per income
Directors’ Short-term statement  statement

Rand fees Salary bonus 2009  2008

Non-executive directors
Anton Dirk Botha 279 400 279 400 291 600
Sidney Bernic 163 000 163 000 151 200
Hendrik Schalk Conradie
Bester 279 400 279 400 248 400
Peter John Cook 209 600 209 600 205 200
Peter Sipho Moyanga 174 800 174 800 174 818
Mervyn Hymie Serebro 221 400 221 400 183 600
Jonathan Mlungisi
Hlongwane 174 600 174 600 158 738
Banus van der Walt 128 400 128 400 89 922

1 630 600 1 630 600 1 503 478
Executive directors 2 539 211 2 473 000 5 012 211 7 621 978

Gerhard van Zyl (CEO) - 1 503 612 1 484 000 2 987 612 4 583 413
Michael John Potts (FD) - 1 035 599 989 000 2 024 599 3 038 565

Per income statement 1 630 600 2 539 211 2 473 000 6 642 811 9 125 456
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There have been no changes to directors’ interests between
the end of the financial year and 25 May 2009.

Mr Hlongwane has an effective holding of 1.84% in Vukile
through his 50% holding in Sakhisizwe Holdings, which
holds 100% interests in Propinvest 10 and Panavest,
which hold 31.7% and 5% interests respectively in Buhlobo
Properties.   Buhlobo Properties has a 40% interest in
Lazarus Capital (Proprietary) Limited, which, in turn, holds
25% of Vukile’s linked units.

Directors’ interest in material contracts
The directors have no interest in material contracts or
transactions, other than those directors involved in the
operation of the company as set out in this report.  There
have been no bankruptcies or voluntary arrangements of
the above-named persons.  The executive directors of
Vukile have not acted as directors with an executive
function of any company at the time of or within the
12 months preceding any of the following events taking
place: receiverships, compulsory liquidations, creditors’
voluntary liquidations, administrations, company voluntary
arrangements or any composition or arrangement with its
creditors generally or any class of its creditors.  The
directors of Vukile have not been the subject of public
criticisms by statutory or regulatory authorities (including
professional bodies) and have not been disqualified by a
court from acting as directors of a company or from acting
in the management or conduct of the affairs of any
company.  There have been no offences involving
dishonesty by the directors of Vukile.

Executive directors’ service contracts
The executive directors do not have fixed term contracts
with the company.  A three month notice period is required
by both parties for the termination of services.  Details
of remuneration and incentive bonuses appear on
page 24.

Secretary
The company secretary is Emma Yates, 2nd Floor, Meersig
Building, Constantia Boulevard, Constantia Kloof, 1709
(PO Box 5995, Weltevreden Park, 1715).

Distributions
A distribution of 44.10 cents per linked unit was paid on
22 December 2008.  The board of directors has declared
a final distribution of 53.80 cents per linked unit for the
six months ended 31 March 2009, which brings the total
distribution for the year to 97.90 cents per linked unit
(2008: 88.25 cents) an increase of 10.9% over the previous
year.

The last day to trade the linked units cum distribution is
Thursday 11 June 2009 and trading commences ex
distribution on Friday 12 June 2009.  The record date to
participate in the distribution is Friday 19 June 2009.

Payment of the distribution will be made to linked
unitholders on Monday 22 June 2009.  In respect of
dematerialised unitholders, the distribution will be transferred
to the Central Securities Depositary Participant or Brokers
account on Monday 22 June 2009.  Certificated unitholders’
distributions will be mailed on or about Monday 22 June
2009.

Movement of directors’ interests in linked units

Acquired Disposed of
during during the Held at Held at

 the period  period  31/03/2009 31/03/2008

Non-executive directors 30 000 - 205 000 175 000
Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester - - 25 000 25 000
Mervyn Hymie Serebro - - 20 000 20 000
Banus van der Walt 30 000 - 160 000 130 000

Executive directors - - 105 100 105 100
Gerhard van Zyl (CEO) - - 102 600 102 600
Michael John Potts (FD) - - 2 500 2 500

Number of linked units 30 000 - 310 100 280 100

Directors’ interests in linked units

Direct Indirect
Direct non- Indirect non-

beneficial beneficial beneficial beneficial Total

Non-executive directors
Hendrik Schalk Conradie
Bester 25 000 25 000
Mervyn Hymie Serebro 20 000 20 000
Banus van der Walt 160 000 160 000

Executive directors
Gerhard van Zyl (CEO) 27 600 75 000 102 600
Michael John Potts (FD) 2 500 2 500

210 100 100 000 310 100
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ASSETS

Non-current assets 4 612 344 4 405 390 3 937 116 3 783 931

Investment properties 4 466 707 4 205 406 3 417 538 3 263 965

Investment properties 3 4 545 731 4 277 548 3 479 204 3 320 252

Straight-line rental income adjustment 4 (79 024) (72 142) (61 666) (56 287)

Other non-current assets 145 637 199 984 519 578 519 966

Straight-line rental income asset 4 57 816 57 546 45 307 45 183

Development expenditure 315 - 315 -

Furniture, fittings and computer 

equipment 5 119 141 88 93

Investment in subsidiaries 6 - - 462 780 462 780

Available-for-sale financial asset 7 11 088 10 153 11 088 10 153

Derivative financial instruments 15 - 55 845 - 1 757

Goodwill 8 76 299 76 299 - -

Current assets 111 143 77 844 107 028 83 482

Straight-line rental income asset 4 21 208 14 596 16 359 11 104

Trade and other receivables 10 29 128 21 839 18 309 13 296

Taxation - - 766 1 189

Debenture interest receivable - - 42 000 36 733

Cash and cash equivalents 60 807 41 409 29 594 21 160

Non-current assets held for sale - 53 450 - -

Investment properties - 52 777 - -

Investment properties 3 - 53 450 - -

Straight-line rental income adjustment 4 - (673) - -

Straight-line rental income asset 4 - 673 - -

Total assets 4 723 487 4 536 684 4 044 144 3 867 413

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity and reserves 1 145 101 1 095 851 978 920 887 347

Share capital 11 2 956 2 956 2 956 2 956

Share premium 12 17 341 17 341 17 341 17 341

Reserves 13 1 124 804 1 075 554 958 623 867 050

Non-current liabilities 3 258 160 3 184 109 2 683 831 2 657 679

Linked debentures and premium 14 1 534 420 1 535 427 1 534 420 1 535 427

Other interest bearing borrowings 15 1 245 827 1 190 744 821 687 796 760

Derivative financial instruments 15 16 493 - 522 -

Deferred taxation 16 461 420 457 938 327 202 325 492

Current liabilities 320 226 256 724 381 393 322 387

Trade and other payables 17 122 682 105 614 91 640 78 035

Short-term bank finance 15 37 459 9 200 37 459 9 200

Amounts owing to subsidiaries 6 - - 93 288 93 288

Taxation payable 1 079 46 - -

Linked unitholders for distribution 159 006 141 864 159 006 141 864

Total equity and liabilities 4 723 487 4 536 684 4 044 144 3 867 413
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Balance sheets
as at 31 March 2009

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

Note R000 R000 R000 R000



Income statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Property revenue 19 673 285 612 727 505 845 459 945

Straight-line rental income accrual 4 6 209 7 226 5 379 8 655

Distributions from MICC 20 - - 76 000 67 750

Gross property revenue 679 494 619 953 587 224 536 350

Property expenses 21 (235 606) (208 851) (179 108) (159 182)

Net profit from property operations 443 888 411 102 408 116 377 168

Administrative expenses 22 (20 137) (20 914) (19 445) (19 974)

Investment and other income 24 8 712 9 262 7 946 5 967

Operating profit before finance costs 432 463 399 450 396 617 363 161

Finance costs 25 (131 358) (124 059) (100 317) (90 875)

Net profit before debenture interest 301 105 275 391 296 300 272 286

Debenture interest (288 755) (260 292) (288 755) (260 292)

Net profit before capital items 12 350 15 099 7 545 11 994

Capital items

Profit on sale of re-valued properties - 11 051 - 11 051

Amortisation of debenture premium 1 007 544 1 007 544

Negative goodwill arising on acquisition 

of MICC subsidiary - 297 - -

Fair value adjustments 115 504 222 424 88 742 237 942

Gross change in fair value of 

investment properties 121 713 229 650 94 121 246 597

Straight-line rental income adjustment (6 209) (7 226) (5 379) (8 655)

Net profit before taxation 128 861 249 415 97 294 261 531

Taxation 26 (6 297) (52 165) (2 466) (58 174)

Net profit 122 564 197 250 94 828 203 357

Earnings per linked unit (cents) 27 139.17 154.81
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Distribution statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Distribution to Vukile 
unitholders for the year 
ended 31 March 2009
Interest distribution 288 755 130 072 44.01 158 683 53.69

Dividend distribution 589 266 0.09 323 0.11

Total distribution 289 344 130 338 44.10 159 006 53.80

First Second
Total First Cents per Second Cents per
R000 R000 linked unit R000 linked unit

Distribution to Vukile 
unitholders for the year 
ended 31 March 2008
Interest distribution 260 292 118 718 40.17 141 574 47.90

Dividend distribution 532 242 0.08 290 0.10

Total distribution 260 824 118 960 40.25 141 864 48.00

First Second
Total First Cents per Second Cents per

R000 R000 linked unit R000 linked unit

Total number of linked units in issue at 31 March 295 550 877 295 550 877

Weighted average number of linked units in issue 295 550 877 295 550 877

2009 2008



Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2009

Group
Balance at 31 March 2007 2 956 17 341 808 072 7 768 836 137

Net income recognised directly in 

equity - - 62 996 - 62 996

Cash flow hedges - - 73 898 - 73 898

Transferred to income statement - - (10 902) - (10 902)

Net profit for the year - - - 197 250 197 250

Change in fair value of investment 

properties - - 229 650 (229 650) -

Deferred taxation on change in fair 

value of investment properties - - (46 781) 46 781 -

Deferred tax on straight-line rental 

accrual - - (1 864) 1 864 -

Transfer to non-distributable reserves - - 11 347 (11 347) -

Dividend distribution - - - (532) (532)

Balance at 31 March 2008 2 956 17 341 1 063 420 12 134 1 095 851

Net income recognised directly in 

equity - - (72 104) - (72 104)

Cash flow hedges - - (77 101) - (77 101)

Transferred to income statement - - 4 997 - 4 997

Net profit for the year - - - 122 564 122 564

Change in fair value of investment 

properties - - 121 713 (121 713) -

Deferred taxation on revaluation of 

investment properties - - 554 (554) -

Deferred tax on straight-line rental 

accrual - - (1 861) 1 861 -

Fair value adjustment on 

available-for-sale financial asset net 

of share-based payment - - (621) - (621)

Dividend distribution - - - (589) (589)

Balance at 31 March 2009 2 956 17 341 1 111 101 13 703 1 145 101
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Statements of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2009 (continued)

Company
Balance at 31 March 2007 2 956 17 341 659 238 3 825 683 360

Net income recognised directly in equity - - 1 162 - 1 162

Cash flow hedges - - 1 373 - 1 373

Transferred to income statement - - (211) - (211)

Net profit for the year - - - 203 357 203 357

Change in fair value of investment properties - - 246 597 (246 597) -

Transfer to non-distributable reserves - - 11 051 (11 051) -

Deferred taxation on change in fair value of 

investment properties - - (54 039) 54 039 -

Deferred taxation on straight-line rental 

accrual - - (2 424) 2 424 -

Dividend distribution - - - (532) (532)

Balance at 31 March 2008 2 956 17 341 861 585 5 465 887 347

Net income recognised directly in equity - - (2 045) - (2 045)

Cash flow hedges - - (2 925) - (2 925)

Transferred to income statement - - 880 - 880

Net profit for the year - - - 94 828 94 828

Change in fair value of investment properties - - 94 121 (94 121) -

Deferred taxation on revaluation of 

investment properties - - 1 616 (1 616) -

Deferred taxation on straight-line rental 

accrual - - (1 506) 1 506 -

Fair value adjustment on available-for-sale 

financial asset net of share-based payment - - (621) - (621)

Dividend distribution - - - (589) (589)

Balance at 31 March 2009 2 956 17 341 953 150 5 473 978 920

Non-
Share Share distributable Retained

capital premium reserves  income Total
R000 R000 R000 R000 R000



Cash flow statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009

CASH FLOW GENERATED FROM  

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 36 854 34 118 27 857 24 500

Cash generated from operations 28.1 433 484 393 864 394 942 351 626

Investment and other income 8 712 9 262 5 767 3 940

Finance costs (131 358) (124 059) (100 317) (90 875)

Distributions paid 28.2 (272 202) (240 136) (272 202) (240 136)

Taxation paid 28.3 (1 782) (4 813) (333) (55)

CASH FLOW UTILISED IN INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES (100 798) (225 732) (72 609) (110 333)

Improvements to investment properties 

and development costs (93 335) (182 361) (65 146) (178 027)

Acquisition of furniture, fittings and 

computer equipment (40) - (40) -

Proceeds on disposal of investment 

properties - 78 046 - 78 046

Additional business combination 

acquired - (111 264) - (199)

Acquisition of available-for-sale 

financial asset (7 423) (10 153) (7 423) (10 153)

CASH FLOW GENERATED FROM 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 83 342 46 012 53 186 85 017

Interest bearing loans advanced by 

subsidiaries - - - 93 288

Interest bearing borrowings 

raised/(repaid) 83 342 46 012 53 186 (8 271)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents 19 398 (145 602) 8 434 (816)

Cash and cash equivalents at the 

beginning of the year 41 409 187 011 21 160 21 976

Cash and cash equivalents at the 

end of the year 60 807 41 409 29 594 21 160

Vukile Property Fund Limited    |   31

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008

Note R000 R000 R000 R000



32 | Vukile Property Fund Limited  

Notes to the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009

1 Accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the Companies Act of South Africa,
1973.
1.1 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis, except for the
measurement of investment properties and
certain financial instruments at fair value and
incorporate the principal accounting policies
set out below.  These accounting policies have
been applied consistently with the previous
year.

1.2 Investment properties
Investment properties, which are stated at fair
market value, constitute land and buildings
held by the company for rental producing
purposes.  Investment property is initially
recorded at cost which includes transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition
thereof.   The directors value all the properties
annually to fair market value.  At least 50% of
all properties are valued every six months on a
rotational basis by qualified independent
external property valuers and any differences
between the respective valuations are reported
in the notes to the financial statements.
Costs include costs incurred initially and costs
incurred subsequently, to add to, or to replace
a part of a property.  Tenant installation costs
are capitalised to the cost of a building.  All
these items are included in the fair value of
investment properties.  If a replacement part is
recognised in the carrying amount of the
investment property, the carrying amount of
the replaced part is derecognised.
Fair market value is the open market value,
which, in the opinion of the directors, is the fair
market price at which the property would have
been sold unconditionally on a willing buyer-
willing seller basis for a cash consideration on
the date of the valuation.  Gains and losses
arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are recognised in net
profit and loss for the period in which they
arise.  Such gains or losses are excluded from
the calculation of distributable earnings.
Gains or losses on the disposal of investment
properties are recognised in net profit or loss,
and are calculated as the difference between
the net selling price and the fair value of the
property as valued in the most recent annual
financial statements.  Such gains or losses are
excluded from the calculation of distributable
earnings.

1.3 Taxation
The charge for current taxation is based on the
results for the year as adjusted for items which
are non-assessable or disallowable and any
adjustment for tax payable or receivable for
previous years.
Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current
and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be paid to (recovered from) the

taxation authorities, using the tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.
Temporary differences are differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and their tax
base.  The amount of deferred tax provided is
based on the tax rates and tax laws in the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
that have been enacted by the balance sheet
date.
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all
taxable temporary differences, except to the
extent that the deferred tax liability arises from:
(a) the initial recognition of goodwill; or
(b) goodwill for which amortisation is not

deductible for tax purposes; or
(c) the initial recognition of an asset or

liability in a transaction which:
(i) is not a business combination; and
(ii) at the time of the transaction,

affects neither accounting profit nor
taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised, unless
the deferred tax asset arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that:
(a) is not a business combination; and
(b) at the time of the transaction, affects

neither accounting profit nor taxable
profit (tax loss).

The effect on deferred tax of any changes in
tax rates is recognised in the income
statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items previously charged or credited directly
to equity.  Deferred tax assets are offset
against deferred tax liabilities.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available, against which the
associated unused tax losses and deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that the related tax
benefit will be realised.

1.4 Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised on the balance sheet when the
group has become party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
The group’s principal financial assets are
trade receivables, cash and cash
equivalents, reimbursement rights and
loans to subsidiaries.  These financial
assets are initially measured at fair value.
Loans and receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost.  Other
financial assets are subsequently
measured at fair value.



Financial liabilities
The group’s principal financial liabilities
are debentures, interest bearing bank
loans, trade and other payables and
other non-interest bearing borrowings.
Interest bearing bank loans and
overdrafts are initially recorded at the
proceeds received net of direct issue
costs.  Interest bearing bank loans are
subsequently measured at amortised
cost.  Trade and other payables are
stated at fair value.  Debentures are
carried at amortised cost.
Gains and losses on subsequent
measurement
Gains and losses arising from a
change in the fair value of the financial
instruments, excluding available-for-
sale financial assets, are included in
net profit or loss in the period in which
the change arises.  Such gains and
losses are excluded from the
calculation of distributable earnings.
Gains and losses arising from a
change in the fair value of available-
for-sale financial assets are included in
equity in the period in which the
change arises.
Derivative instruments
The group uses derivative financial
instruments including interest rate
swaps, swaptions, forward rate
agreements and interest rate caps to
hedge its exposure to interest rates.
It is the policy of the group not to
trade in derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes.
Derivative financial instruments are
initially and subsequently recognised
at fair value.
In terms of hedge accounting, hedges
are either (a) fair value hedges, which
hedge the exposure to changes in the
fair value of a recognised asset or
liability or (b) cash flow hedges, which
hedge exposure to variability in cash
flows.
In the case of fair value hedges, any
gains or losses from changes in the
fair value of the hedging instrument,
are recognised immediately in the
profit or loss for the period.
Gains and losses on the effective
portion of cash flow hedging
instruments in respect of forecast
transactions are recognised directly in
equity.  Any ineffective portion of a
cash flow hedge is recognised in profit
or loss before taxation for the period.
Portions of gains and losses that have
been recognised directly into equity
are reclassified as interest expenditure
in the same period during which the
asset acquired or liability assumed
affects profit or loss.

1.5 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the group
has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, for
which it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will occur.

1.6 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises operating lease
income, operating expense recoveries
charged to tenants and interest income.
Dividends are recognised when the
company’s right to receive payment is
established.
Operating lease income is recognised as
income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
Interest is brought to account using the
effective interest method.
Contingent rents (turnover rental) are
included in revenue when the amounts can
be reliably measured.

1.7 Letting commissions
Letting commissions are capitalised and
amortised over the lease period.  The
carrying value is included with investment
properties.

1.8 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand, deposits held at call with banks
and investments in money market
instruments, net of bank overdrafts, all of
which are available for use by the group.

1.9 Basis of consolidation
The group annual financial statements
include the financial statements of the
company and its subsidiaries.  The
operating results of the subsidiaries are
included from the effective dates of
acquisition up to the effective dates of
disposal.
Inter-company balances and transactions
are eliminated.
Subsidiaries apply the same accounting
policies as those used by the company.
Investment in subsidiaries is carried at cost
in the company’s financial statements, less
any accumulated impairment.

1.10 Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents
the excess of the cost of acquisition over
the group’s interest in the fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities of a subsidiary, associate or jointly
controlled entity at the date of acquisition.
Goodwill is recognised as an asset at its
carrying amount less any accumulated
impairment.  Goodwill is evaluated annually
for impairment.
Negative goodwill is recognised in profit or
loss immediately.

1.11 Impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 (continued)

1 Accounting policies (continued)
1.12 Furniture, fittings and computer equipment

Furniture, fittings and computer equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the
cost less residual value of assets over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
basis.  The principal useful lives used for this
purpose are:

Computer equipment 3 years
Computer software 2 years
Furniture and equipment 6 years

The residual value and useful life of an asset
are reviewed at each financial year-end.

1.13 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale.  Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised.  Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred.

1.14 Share-based payments
Services received or acquired in a share-based
payment transaction are recognised as the
services are received.  A corresponding
increase in equity is recognised if the services
were received in an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction or a liability if the services
were acquired in a cash-settled share-based
payment transaction.
For equity-settled share-based payment
transactions, the goods or services received,
and the corresponding increase in equity are
measured directly at the fair value of the goods
or services received, unless that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably.
If the fair value of the goods or services
received cannot be estimated reliably, their
value and the corresponding increase in equity
are measured indirectly by reference to the fair
value, at grant date, of the equity instruments
granted.
When the services received or acquired in a
share-based payment transaction do not
qualify for recognition as assets, they are
recognised as expenses.
For cash-settled share-based payment
transactions, the services acquired and the
liability incurred are measured at the fair value
of the liability.  Until the liability is settled, the
fair value of the liability is re-measured at each
reporting date and at the date of settlement,
with any changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss for the period.

If the share-based payments granted do not
vest until the counterparty completes a
specified period of service, Vukile accounts for
those services on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period.
If the share-based payments vest immediately,
the services received are recognised in full.

1.15 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets held for sale are assets
that will be recovered principally through a sale
transaction.  These assets are measured at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair value
less costs to sell.

1.16 Segmental reporting
On a primary basis, the group operates in the
following sectors:

Retail
Commercial
Industrial

Properties are classified as retail, commercial
and industrial according to the nature of their
tenants and income and expenses for all of the
properties comprising the various segments
are consolidated accordingly.
The geographical split is a secondary
segmentation.  The geographic breakdown of
the value and gross lettable area of the
property portfolio is disclosed in the directors’
review of operations.

1.17 New and amended International Financial
Reporting Standards not yet adopted
The new standard IFRS 8 has been issued
with an effective date applicable to future
financial statements of the group.  Only those
standards not yet adopted and that could be
expected to be applicable to the group are set
out below, i.e. those applicable to unrelated
industries or economies are not dealt with
herein.

IFRS 8 Operating Segments
IFRS 8 requires the identification of
operating segments on the basis of
internal reports that are regularly
reviewed by the “chief operating decision
maker” in order to allocate to the
segment and assess its performance.
IFRS 8 requires reconciliation for total
reportable segments to the total reported
IFRS figures for all of the following items:

revenue;
profit or loss before (or after, in
certain circumstances) income tax
expense/income and discontinued
operations;
assets;
liabilities; and
every other material item of
information disclosed as required
by IFRS 8.

The group is currently evaluating the
impact of the above but does not expect
any significant effect on the financial
statements.
The amendment is effective for the annual
period commencing on 1 April 2009.



IFRS 3 Business Combinations:
Comprehensive revision on applying the
acquisition method and consequential
amendments to IAS 27 Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements, IAS 28
Investments in Associates and IAS 31
Interest in Joint Ventures
The revised IFRS 3 retains the basic
requirements of IFRS 3 (2004) to apply
acquisition accounting for all business
combinations within the scope of IFRS 3, to
identify the acquirer and to determine the
acquisition date for every business
combination.  The most significant change
is a move from a purchase price allocation
approach to a fair-value measurement
principle.  The revision applies to business
combinations for which the acquisition date
is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or
after 1 July 2009 i.e. commencing 
1 April 2010.
The revision is applicable prospectively and
will not affect past business combinations.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Comprehensive revision including requiring
a statement of comprehensive income
The changes made to IAS 1 require
information in financial statements to be
aggregated on the basis of shared
characteristics and introduce a statement of
comprehensive income.  The revision
includes changes in titles of financial
statements to reflect their functions more
clearly.
The revised standard will affect the
disclosures in the annual report.  The
revision is effective for the annual period
commencing on 1 April 2009.
IAS 23 Borrowing Costs
The revision removed the option of
immediately recognising as an expense
borrowing costs that relate to assets that
take a substantial period of time to get
ready for use or sale.  The revision is
effective for the annual period commencing
on 1 April 2009.
The revision will not affect the group as it is
the group’s policy to capitalise borrowing
costs on qualifying assets.
IFRS 2 Share-based Payments:
Amendment relating to vesting conditions
and cancellation
Under IFRS 2, a failure to meet a condition,
other than a vesting condition, is treated as
a cancellation.  IFRS 2 specifies the
accounting treatment of cancellations by
the entity, but does not give guidance on
the treatment of cancellations by parties

other than the entity.  The amendment
requires cancellations by parties other than
the entity to be accounted for in the same
way as cancellations by the entity.
The amendment is not expected to affect
the group’s results.  The amendment is
effective for the annual period commencing
on 1 April 2009.
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Amendment relating to disclosure of
puttable instruments and obligations arising
on liquidation
The amendment requires additional
information to be presented on puttable
instruments that are presented as equity.
The amendment will not affect the group, as
the group does not have puttable
instruments that are presented within equity.
The amendment is effective for the annual
period commencing on 1 April 2009.
IAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial
statements
The main changes are as follows:

transactions with non-controlling
interests (previously called “minority
interest”) in which control is not
gained or lost (e.g. part disposal of
shares in a subsidiary and purchases
of shares held by non-controlling
interests) are accounted for as equity
transactions.  No income statement
gain or loss is recorded and no
adjustment is made to goodwill; and
on loss of control of a subsidiary, any
retained investment is recognised at
its fair value at the date control is lost.
This fair value is included in the
calculation of the gain or loss.

The amendment is effective for the annual
period commencing on 1 April 2010.

2 Key estimations and uncertainties
Estimates and assumptions are an integral part of
financial reporting and as such have an impact on
the amounts reported in the group’s income,
expenses, assets and liabilities.  Judgement in
these areas is based on historical experience and
reasonable expectations relating to future events.
Information on the key estimations and
uncertainties that have had the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements are set out in the following notes in
the financial statements:

Accounting policies notes 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, 1.6,
1.10, 1.11 and 1.14.
Investment property valuation - note 3.
Deferred taxation - note 16.
Trade and other receivables - note 18.
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Notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 (continued)

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

3 Investment properties
Stated at fair value

Property acquisitions 2 698 906 2 713 800 2 013 343 2 028 237
Capital expenditure and tenant installations 123 738 88 402 113 038 78 016
Acquisition costs 102 209 45 856 62 716 32 354
Net gain from fair value adjustment of 
investment properties 1 606 345 1 469 738 1 280 228 1 171 213

Fair value 4 531 198 4 317 796 3 469 325 3 309 820
Lease commissions 14 533 13 202 9 879 10 432

At end of year 4 545 731 4 330 998 3 479 204 3 320 252
Less: Fair value of investment properties 
held for sale - (53 450) - -

4 545 731 4 277 548 3 479 204 3 320 252

3.1 Details of investment properties
The directors have valued the group’s property portfolio at R4.53 billion as at 31 March 2009 (R4.32 billion - 
31 March 2008) using the discounted cash flow of the future income stream method.  This is R213 million or 4.9%
higher than the valuation as at 31 March 2008.
The external valuations by sworn independent appraisers, JHI Real Estate Limited (“JHI”) and Old Mutual Property
Group (Proprietary Limited) (“Old Mutual”) at 31 March 2009 of 54% of the total portfolio, amounts to R131.5 million
(5.1%) higher than the directors’ valuations of the same properties.
The portfolios referred to above were valued by the valuation division of Sanlam Properties (Proprietary) Limited.
These valuations were reviewed and approved by the directors of the company, whose experience is reflected in the
directors’ report.
The directors’ valuations are considered reasonable when compared to the valuations by the sworn independent
appraisers referred to above.  These appraisers have extensive experience in commercial, retail and industrial
valuations throughout South Africa.  The group’s properties are encumbered as security for the securitised debt and
bank loans to the value of R1.3 billion (note 15).

3.2 Valuation assumptions
The range of the reversionary capitalisation rate applied to the portfolio is between 11% and 18.5% with the average
being approximately 12.4%.
The discount rate applied ranges between 11.62% and 20% with the average being approximately 13.6%.
In determining future cash flows for valuation purposes, vacancies are forecast for each property based on estimated
demand.

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

3.3 Movement for the year
Investment properties 1 April 4 330 998 3 876 332 3 320 252 2 962 623
Capital expenditure and tenant installations 35 336 36 909 35 022 31 450
Acquisitions and development costs 56 353 255 429 30 362 147 079
Change in fair value of investment properties 121 713 229 650 94 121 246 597
Disposal of investment properties - (66 995) - (66 995)
Lease commissions capitalised/(amortised) 1 331 (327) (553) (502)

Investment properties 31 March 4 545 731 4 330 998 3 479 204 3 320 252
Reflected on the balance sheet under:

Non-current assets 4 545 731 4 277 548 3 479 204 3 320 252
Non-current assets held for sale - 53 450 - -

4 545 731 4 330 998 3 479 204 3 320 252
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Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

4 Straight-line rental income adjustment
Balance at 1 April 72 815 66 036 56 287 48 079
Movement on sold properties - (447) - (447)
Current year movement 6 209 7 226 5 379 8 655
Balance at 31 March 79 024 72 815 61 666 56 287

Non-current portion 57 816 57 546 45 307 45 183
Current portion 21 208 14 596 16 359 11 104
Non-current assets held for sale - 673 - -

79 024 72 815 61 666 56 287

5 Furniture, fittings and computer 
equipment
Cost 509 469 337 297
Accumulated depreciation (390) (328) (249) (204)
Carrying value 119 141 88 93

5.1 Movement for the year
Net carrying value at 1 April 141 205 93 134
Additions 40 - 40 -
Disposals - (4) - -
Depreciation (62) (60) (45) (41)

Net carrying value 31 March 119 141 88 93

Company Company
2009 2008
R000 R000

6 Investment in subsidiaries
Direct holding

Linked units at cost 100% holding in MICC Property Income 
Fund Limited (2008: 100%)(1) 462 780 462 780

Indirect holding
MICC Properties (Pty) Ltd(1) - -
MICC Properties Namibia (Pty) Ltd(2) - -
Katima Mulilo Properties (Pty) Ltd(2) - -
Katatura Properties (Pty) Ltd(2) - -
Kavango West Shopping Centre (Pty) Ltd(2) - -
Oluno Properties (Pty) Ltd(2) - -
Oshakati Properties (Pty) Ltd(2) - -
Oshikango Properties (Pty) Ltd(2) - -
Super Deca Properties (Pty) Ltd(2) - -
MICC House Namibia (Pty) Ltd(2) - -
All the companies are 100% held within the MICC Group

Special purpose entity
Vukile Investment Property Securitisation (Pty) Ltd (“VIPS”)(1) - -

Total investment in subsidiaries 462 780 462 780

(1) Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa.
(2) Incorporated in Namibia.
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Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

6 Investment in subsidiaries (continued)
Loans from subsidiaries

Katima Mulilo Properties (Pty) Ltd 3 071 3 071
Katatura Properties (Pty) Ltd 20 295 20 295
Kavango West Shopping Centre (Pty) Ltd 2 420 2 420
Oluno Properties (Pty) Ltd 11 631 11 631
Oshakati Properties (Pty) Ltd 2 024 2 024
Oshikango Properties (Pty) Ltd 8 860 8 860
Super Deca Properties (Pty) Ltd 44 987 44 987

93 288 93 288

The loans bear interest at market related deposit rates 
and are repayable on 45 days written notice.

7 Available-for-sale financial asset
Re-imbursement right 11 088 10 153 11 088 10 153

Balance at 1 April 10 153 - 10 153 -
Conversion of phantom long-term incentive scheme - 13 453 - 13 453
New performance and retention long-term incentive 
scheme approved by unitholders 7 423 - 7 423 -
Less: Deduction of executive rights (5 151) (3 300) (5 151) (3 300)

Fair value adjustment of re-imbursement right (1 337) - (1 337) -
11 088 10 153 11 088 10 153

Sanlam Capital Markets Limited (“SCM”) has assumed the obligation to discharge Vukile’s conditional financial obligation
towards its executives as at 30 June 2010 (R13.4 million) and at 30 June 2013 (R7.4 million).  Further details are set out in
note 22.
This re-imbursement right is stated at fair value after deduction of executive rights.

8 Goodwill
Goodwill arose on the acquisition of 100% of a cash generating unit, MICC Property Income Fund Limited and represents
a premium paid on the net assets and liabilities purchased.
The cash-generating unit has been valued using the discounted cash flow method for the acquisitions in both reporting
periods at amounts significantly in excess of net asset value and goodwill.  Goodwill is, therefore, not impaired.

Group Group
2009 2008
R000 R000

Balance at 1 April 76 299 76 100
Arising on acquisition of 1.123% of MICC Property Income Fund Limited - 199

Balance at 31 March 76 299 76 299
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Loans Derivatives Available-for-
and used for sale finan-

receivables hedging cial asset
R000 R000 R000

9 Financial instruments by category - group
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been 
applied to the line items below
31 March 2009
Assets per balance sheet
Cash and cash equivalents 60 807 - -
Available-for-sale financial asset - - 11 088
Trade and other receivables 29 128 - -

Other Other
financial financial
liabilities liabilities Derivatives

at amortised at fair used for
cost value hedging

R000 R000 R000

Liabilities per balance sheet
Other interest bearing borrowings 1 245 827 - -
Linked debenture and premium 1 534 420 - -
Derivative financial instruments - - 16 493
Trade and other payables 122 682 - -
Short-term bank finance 37 459 - -

Loans Derivatives Available-for-
and used for sale finan-

receivables hedging cial asset
R000 R000 R000

31 March 2008
Assets per balance sheet
Cash and cash equivalents 41 409 - -
Available-for-sale financial asset - - 10 153
Derivative financial instruments - 55 845 -
Trade and other receivables 21 839 - -

Other Other
financial financial
liabilities liabilities Derivatives

at amortised at fair used for
cost value hedging

R000 R000 R000

Liabilities per balance sheet
Other interest bearing borrowings 1 190 744 - -
Linked debenture and premium 1 535 427 - -
Trade and other payables 105 614 - -
Short-term bank finance 9 200 - -
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Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

10 Trade and other receivables
Gross rental receivables 17 024 12 414 12 789 8 001
Impairment of receivables (6 519) (4 505) (4 791) (2 893)
Prepaid expenses 456 447 456 447
Sundry debtors 18 167 13 483 9 855 7 741

Total 29 128 21 839 18 309 13 296

Further information on receivables is set out in note 18.

11 Share capital
Authorised - par value shares
400 000 000 ordinary shares of one cent each 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000 4 000 000
Issued
295 550 877 (2008: 295 550 877) ordinary shares 
of one cent each

Issued for the acquisition of properties 2 093 2 093 2 093 2 093
Issued as consideration for the acquisition 
of MICC Property Income Fund Limited 863 863 863 863

In issue at end of the year 2 956 2 956 2 956 2 956

In terms of the memorandum of association and the debenture trust deed, the shares are linked with unsecured,
subordinated, variable-rate debentures of four hundred and ninety cents each.  This linkage means that each share may
only be issued and traded together with the debenture with which it is indivisibly linked.
Shares under control of the directors
5% of the authorised shares of the company are under the control of the directors.  This authority expires at the next
annual general meeting.

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

12 Share premium
Arising on the acquisition of properties 7 679 7 679 7 679 7 679
Arising on the acquisition of MICC Property 
Income Fund Limited 9 662 9 662 9 662 9 662

Balance at the end of the year 17 341 17 341 17 341 17 341

13 Reserves
Non-distributable reserves 1 111 101 1 063 420 953 150 861 585
Retained income 13 703 12 134 5 473 5 465

1 124 804 1 075 554 958 623 867 050

Non-distributable reserves comprise the following:
Investment property revaluation surplus net of 
deferred taxation 1 128 576 1 008 170 954 654 860 423
(Loss)/profit on mark-to-market valuation of 
cash flow hedges (16 854) 55 250 (883) 1 162
Valuation adjustments to available-for-sale 
financial assets (6 488) (3 300) (6 488) (3 300)
Share-based payment reserve 5 867 3 300 5 867 3 300

1 111 101 1 063 420 953 150 861 585
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Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

14 Linked debentures and premium
Issued

295 550 877 (2008: 295 550 877) 
unsecured subordinated, variable-rate 
debentures of 490 cents 1 448 199 1 448 199 1 448 199 1 448 199
Debenture premium 86 221 87 228 86 221 87 228

1 534 420 1 535 427 1 534 420 1 535 427

The issue of each debenture is linked to one ordinary share in the share capital of the company, together comprising
one linked unit.  Any further issues of linked units will be in the same ratio.  In terms of the debenture trust deed, the
aggregate interest entitlement of every debenture linked to each ordinary share in respect of any financial year shall
not be less than 99% of distributable earnings of an income nature unless the directors exercise their discretion to
reduce this percentage below 99%, but in excess of 90% prior to 31 March each year.  The debentures will be
redeemed at their par value in accordance with the provisions of this trust deed and/or the relevant supplemental
Debenture Trust Deed in the ordinary course as and when they fall due for payment.  The issue of debentures will be
redeemable by the company in full at any time after 25 (twenty-five) years after the date of allotment of the relevant
debentures.  The debenture holders may exercise the right to require the debentures to be redeemed in accordance
with the debenture trust deed, only by special resolution, whereafter the debentures shall be redeemed by the
company at their nominal value on the last Friday, which must be a business day, prior to the 5th (fifth) anniversary of
the date on which the special resolution is passed.
The debenture premium is amortised over 25 years and discounted at a rate equivalent to the Government R157
plus an appropriate risk premium.

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

15 Other interest bearing borrowings
Secured fixed rate loans 251 222 251 222 765 765 763 886

Nedbank Limited 251 222 251 222 - -
Vukile Investment Property 
Securitisation (Pty) Ltd (“VIPS”) - - 770 000 770 000
Less:  Net debt raising fee offset against 
borrowings - - (4 235) (6 114)

Secured variable rate loans 994 605 939 522 55 922 32 874
Noteholders 770 000 770 000 - -
Less: Net debt raising fee offset against 
borrowings (4 235) (6 114) - -
ABSA facility 229 287 176 287 56 000 33 000
Less: Net debt raising fees offset against 
borrowings (447) (651) (78) (126)

Interest bearing borrowings - non-current 1 245 827 1 190 744 821 687 796 760
Interest bearing borrowings - current
ABSA Access facility 37 459 9 200 37 459 9 200
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15 Other interest bearing borrowings (continued)
Details of interest bearing borrowings - 31 March 2009
VIPS is Vukile’s securitisation vehicle which issued R770 million of variable rate notes to noteholders.  The funds so raised
were on-lent to Vukile as a fixed interest rate loan.

Fixed rate loans
VIPS
Facility utilised R770 million
Dates of repayment R462 million - November 2010

R308 million - November 2012
Fixed interest rate 10.02% and 10.12% (NACQ) all-in rate for 5 year and 7 year

loans respectively.
Repayment terms Interest only, quarterly in arrears. Capital on maturity.
Overall financial covenants
Loan to investment property valuation ratio 65% (currently 24.1%)
Interest cover ratio 2.0:1 (currently 4.2:1)
Security Secured by way of mortgage bonds over Vukile’s securitised

investment properties and a pledge of rentals receivable.
Nedbank
Amount R251.2 million
Date of repayment August 2011
Term 5 years
Fixed interest rate (NACQ) 10.66%
Repayment terms Interest only, quarterly in arrears.  Capital on maturity.
Variable rate loans
ABSA Bank
Total facility available R548 million
Facility drawn down R229 million
Dates of repayment November 2010 (Vukile: R56 million)

July 2011 (MICC: R173 million)
Variable interest rate Prime less 2.1%
Repayment terms Interest only, monthly in arrears.  Capital on maturity.
Loan to investment property valuation ratio 50% (currently 37%): MICC

50% (currently 25%): Vukile
Interest cover ratio 1.8:1 times after inter-company adjustment (currently 2.8:1):

MICC.
2.0:1 times after inter-company adjustments (currently 3.2:1):
Vukile.

Security Secured by way of mortgage bonds over MICC and Vukile’s non-
securitised investment properties and a pledge of rentals
receivable.

Owing to note holders by VIPS
Amount R770 million
Dates of repayment R462 million - November 2010

R308 million - November 2012
Variable interest rate 3 months JIBAR plus note margins
Repayment terms Interest only quarterly in arrears.  Capital on maturity.
Loan to investment property valuation ratio 65% (currently 24.1%)
Interest cover ratio 2.0:1 (currently 4.2:1)
Security Secured by way of mortgage bonds over securitised investment

properties and a pledge of rentals receivable.
ABSA Bank
Access facility R100 million
Facility utilised R37.5 million
Date of repayment On demand
Variable interest rate Prime less 2.1%

An overdraft of R45 million and a hedging facility of R112.5 million have been provided by ABSA Bank to the group.
These facilities are also secured by mortgage bonds over the non-securitised investment properties and a pledge of rentals
receivable.
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2009 2008 2009 2008
Group Group Company Company

assets/ assets/ assets/ assets/
(liabilities) (liabilities) (liabilities) (liabilities)

R000 R000 R000 R000

15 Other interest bearing borrowings
(continued)
Derivative financial instruments
Interest rate swaps - cashflow hedges (16 493) 55 845 (522) 1 757

Interest rate swaps
Company
At 31 March 2009 the company had entered into the following interest rate swap:

Swap 1*

Nominal swap amount (Rm) 33
Period 3 years
Maturity date Nov 2010
Rate (NACQ)(1) 10.74%

Group
At 31 March 2009 the group had entered into the following interest rate swaps:

Swap 2(3) Swap 3 Total

R770 million variable rate loans had been converted to fixed 
rate debt:

Nominal value (Rm) 462 308 770
Swap period 5 years 7 years
Maturity date Nov 2010 Nov 2012
Rate (NACQ)(2) 8.81% 8.93%

Swap 4* Swap 5*

R143.3 million variable rate loan had been converted to fixed rate debt:
Nominal value (Rm) 88.5 54.8
Swap period 5 years 3.5 years
Maturity date Jul 2011 Jul 2011
Rate (NACQ)(1) 10.36% 10.62%

* Interest rate swaps 1, 4 and 5 totalling R176.3 million have been concluded to partly hedge the interest on the
variable rate loans drawn down of R229 million.

(1) Includes a margin of 1.4% payable to ABSA Bank.
(2) Excluding note margins.
(3) A R240 million and a R222 million forward starting swap, commencing in November 2010 and maturing in

November 2015, have been concluded at a rate of 8.28% and 8.85% respectively, excluding note margins.
JIBAR - Johannesburg Interbank Acceptance Rate
NACQ - Nominal Annual Compounded Quarterly

Borrowing powers
The borrowing capacity of the company and its subsidiaries, in terms of their articles of association, is unlimited, but
is subject to loan covenants as detailed in this note.
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Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

16 Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation liabilities comprise the following:

Fair value adjustments 436 235 436 789 307 227 308 843
Straight-line rental income adjustment 22 431 20 570 17 266 15 760
Other temporary differences 2 754 579 2 709 889

461 420 457 938 327 202 325 492
Movement

Balance at 1 April 457 938 408 117 325 492 266 043
Fair value adjustment 29 842 60 727 22 553 65 632
Rate change on fair value adjustment (30 396) (13 946) (24 169) (11 593)
Straight-line rental income adjustment 1 861 1 864 1 506 2 424
Other temporary differences 1 204 2 931 849 3 017
Rate change on temporary differences - (17) - (31)
Under-provision of other temporary differences 
in prior year 1 510 - 1 510 -
Deferred tax asset - CGT loss (539) - (539) -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiary - (1 738) - -

Balance at 31 March 461 420 457 938 327 202 325 492

The rate change on fair value adjustment has arisen as a result of determining the fair value of land and buildings
separately and applying capital gains tax rates and normal tax rates respectively to the separate revaluation surplus arising
thereon.  As a consequence thereof, deferred taxation was previously over-provided.
Comparatives have been reclassified to better reflect the deferred taxation categories.

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

17 Trade and other payables
Trade creditors 11 965 14 147 8 865 9 871
Accrued expenses 84 463 68 915 63 735 51 159
Tenant deposits 26 254 22 552 19 040 17 005

122 682 105 614 91 640 78 035

18 Financial risk management
The group’s financial instruments consist mainly of interest rate swaps, deposits with banks, accounts receivable and
payable, long-term borrowings and loans to and from subsidiaries.  In respect of all financial instruments listed above, the
book value approximates fair value.  The group purchases or issues financial instruments to finance operations and to
manage interest rate risks that may arise from time to time.
The board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s risk management
framework.  The audit and risk committee is responsible for developing and monitoring the group’s risk management
policies.  The audit and risk committee reports regularly to the board of directors on its activities.
The group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the group, to set
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the group’s activities.
The audit and risk committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the group’s risk management policies
and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks faced by the group.
The audit and risk committee is assisted in its oversight role by the internal auditors, KPMG.  KPMG undertakes both
regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the audit and
risk committee.
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18 Financial risk management (continued)
Credit risk management
Potential areas of credit risk comprise mainly of trade receivables.  Trade receivables consist of a large widespread
tenant base.  Management has established a credit policy under which each new tenant is analysed individually for
credit worthiness before the group’s standard payment terms and conditions are offered which include, in the
majority of cases, the provision of a deposit of at least one month’s rental.  When available, the group’s credit review
includes external ratings.  The group monitors the financial position of its tenants on an ongoing basis.  Adjustment is
made for impairment of specific bad debts and, at year-end, management did not consider there to be any material
credit risk exposure not covered by an allowance for doubtful debts.  The group impairment allowance for doubtful
debts amounted to approximately R6.5 million (2008: R4.5 million) net of tenant deposits held as security.
The group held tenant cash deposits and bank guarantees amounting to R26.2 million at 31 March 2009 
(2008: R22.6 million) as collateral for the rental commitments of tenants.
The individually impaired receivables relate mainly to non-national tenants which have been summonsed for non-
payment of rentals, or who have vacated the premises due to difficult economic conditions.  It was assessed that a
portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered.  The ageing of the provision for bad debts in respect of the
impaired receivables is as follows:

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

Not more than 30 days 1 397 1 436 878 1 240
More than 30 days but not more than 
60 days 1 124 616 817 386
More than 60 days but not more than 
90 days 917 472 694 281
More than 90 days 3 081 1 981 2 402 986

6 519 4 505 4 791 2 893

At balance sheet date there were no specific concentrations of credit risk.

Disclosure of receivables - past due but not impaired
Past due: amounts uncollected one day or more beyond their contractual due date are “past due”.
Trade receivables that are less than three months past due and that are subject to a dispute are not considered
impaired until the resolution of the dispute.  As of 31 March 2009, trade receivables of R10.5 million 
(2008: R7.9 million) were past due but not impaired.  These related to a number of independent customers for whom
there is no recent history of default.  The age analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

Not more than 30 days 7 043 927 6 172 1 844
More than 30 days but not more than 
60 days 1 402 1 688 1 029 871
More than 60 days but not more than 
90 days 414 1 987 280 695
More than 90 days 1 646 3 307 517 1 698

10 505 7 909 7 998 5 108
Movements on the group allowance for impairment 
of trade receivables are as follows:

At 1 April 4 505 1 677 2 893 256
Allowance for receivables impairment 4 311 4 101 2 847 2 875
Receivables written off during the year as 
uncollectable (2 297) (1 273) (949) (238)

At 31 March 6 519 4 505 4 791 2 893



46 | Vukile Property Fund Limited  

Notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 (continued)

18 Financial risk management (continued)
Disclosure of receivables - past due but not impaired (continued)
Allowance for impaired receivables and receivables written off have been included in “operating costs” in note 21 to the
annual financial statements.  Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no
expectation of recovering additional cash.

Market risk
Interest rate risk management
At 31 March 2009, the group had interest bearing borrowings of R1 288 million.  93% of the variable interest rate long-
term debt has been fixed in terms of interest rate swap agreements.
The group’s interest rate risk management position and maturity analysis of other interest bearing borrowings are
summarised below:

Amount Maturity
Debt Rate % Rm date % of debt Interest rate swaps

Floating Prime less 2.1% 60.5 Mar 2010 4.7 Variable
Fixed 10.66% 251.2 Aug 2011 19.5 Fixed
Floating Prime less 2.1% 88.5 Jul 2011 6.9 (1)Hedged at 10.36%
Floating Prime less 2.1% 462.0 Nov 2010 35.9 Hedged at 10.02%
Floating Prime less 2.1% 308.0 Nov 2012 23.9 Hedged at 10.12%
Floating Prime less 2.1% 33.0 Nov 2010 2.6 (1)Hedged at 10.74%
Floating Prime less 2.1% 54.8 Jul 2011 4.2 (1)Hedged at 10.62%
Floating Prime less 2.1% 30.0 Jul 2011 2.3 Variable
Total 1 288.0 100.0

(1) Includes a 1.4% bank margin.

The short-term floating access facility of R100 million is not hedged.  The company believes that prime overdraft rates will
decrease for the year ending 31 March 2010.  It is estimated that, for the year ended 31 March 2009, a 1% change in
interest rates would have affected the company’s profit before debenture interest by approximately R0.9 million.
Details of the group’s interest rate swap contracts are set out in note 15 of the annual financial statements.

Current Non-current
6 months > 5 years

Maturity analysis R000 R000

Linked debentures and premium - 1 534 420
Trade and other payables 122 682 -

Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The group’s policy is
to optimise its exposure to liquidity risk by balancing its exposure to interest rate risk and to refinancing risk.
In effect the group seeks to borrow for as long as possible at the lowest acceptable cost.  The group regularly reviews the
maturity profile of its financial liabilities and seeks to avoid concentration of maturities through the regular replacement of
facilities and by using a selection of maturity dates.
The above table sets out the maturity analysis of the group’s financial liabilities based on the undiscounted contractual
cash flows.
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18 Financial risk management (continued)
Liquidity risk management (continued)
On expiry of the R770 million notes issued to note holders by VIPS, it is intended to roll over this debt, in terms of the
securitisation programme, by way of a fresh issue of R770 million.
The linked debentures are redeemable after 25 years from date of allotment, which redemption will be financed by
way of a new issue of linked debentures of an equivalent amount.
New long-term loans will be entered into with relevant banks on the expiry of existing bank debt facilities.
Cash flows are monitored on a monthly basis to ensure that cash resources are adequate to meet funding
requirements.
Vukile has initiated a “TAP” of R250 million via its securitisation vehicle which should result in an additional issue of
notes in mid July 2009.  Initial all-in funding costs are expected to be approximately 10% per annum.  The funding
that is raised will be utilised to fund capital expenditure, expansions and acquisitions.
In terms of covenants with the funding banks, the nominal value of long-term interest bearing bank debt may not
exceed 50% of the value of non-current assets and 65% of securitised property assets.  The directors have imposed
a 45% loan to value ratio in determining the limit of the company’s external borrowings.

Group Group
2009 2008
R000 R000

Value of property assets 4 531 198 4 317 796
45% thereof 2 039 039 1 943 008
Nominal value of borrowings utilised at year end (1 287 968) (1 206 184)

Potential borrowing capacity 751 071 736 824

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

19 Revenue
Property revenue 673 285 612 727 505 845 459 945

Included in property revenue:
Turnover rental 7 159 8 203 4 888 6 134

20 Distribution received from MICC
Dividends - - 17 15
Debenture interest - - 75 983 67 735

- - 76 000 67 750

21 Property expenses
Municipal fixed charges 48 932 39 872 38 595 30 432
Municipal consumption costs 72 095 59 050 54 606 45 385
Operating costs 62 079 60 182 48 348 46 798
Repairs and maintenance 18 136 15 609 12 649 11 881
Asset management fees 13 774 16 361 10 275 11 887
Property management fees 20 590 17 777 14 635 12 799

235 606 208 851 179 108 159 182
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Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

22 Administrative expenses
Administration expenses include:

Administration costs 4 674 5 185 4 416 4 890
Depreciation of furniture, fittings and 
computer equipment 62 60 45 41
Share-based remuneration 5 867 3 300 5 867 3 300
Staff and related costs (excluding 
directors remuneration) 1 151 1 323 1 151 1 323
Internal audit fee 532 582 532 582

Share-based remuneration
As reported in previous years, the board of Vukile has replaced the original long-term incentive bonus scheme with a new
retention and performance based scheme.  On the termination of the previous scheme, R13.45 million was paid to
Sanlam Capital Markets Limited (“SCM”) in return for SCM assuming Vukile’s future conditional financial obligations to
senior management.  SCM acquired linked units in Vukile with these funds.  If the employee is still in the employ of Vukile
at 31 July 2010, SCM will release the linked units to such employee after deducting income tax.
The terms and conditions of the new long-term scheme were approved by unitholders at the annual general meeting held
on 11 September 2008.  The Vukile board approved a payment of R7.4 million in respect of the new scheme, which
comprises a 25% retention element and a 75% performance based element and matures on 1 July 2012.  This amount
will be paid to SCM once the cautionary announcements, under which the company is trading, have been lifted.  As the
above are considered equity-settled share-based payments, the accounting treatment is to recognise these share-based
payment equally over 36 months (old scheme) and 48 months (new scheme).  The charges to the income statement for
the year ended 31 March 2009 amounted to R4.5 million (old scheme) and R1.4 million (new scheme).

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

23 Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees

Current year 1 141 1 227 723 645
Other services 67 187 67 66

1 208 1 414 790 711

24 Investment and other income
Interest on loans and receivables 8 520 9 079 5 767 3 927
Management fees received from MICC - - 2 179 2 027
Other income 192 183 - 13

8 712 9 262 7 946 5 967
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Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

25 Finance costs
Secured loans 129 921 122 560 99 036 89 533
Amortisation of debt raising fee 2 083 2 068 1 927 1 911
Fair value gains on interest rate 
swaptions (646) (569) (646) (569)

131 358 124 059 100 317 90 875

26 Taxation
Normal taxation 2 826 3 158 475 1 277
Overprovision in prior year (313) (2 607) 223 (2 607)

2 513 551 698 (1 330)
Secondary taxation on companies 
and NRST 302 55 58 55
Deferred normal taxation 1 204 307 849 379
Deferred taxation under-provision 
in prior year 1 510 2 607 1 510 2 607
Deferred taxation on straight-line 
rental accrual 1 861 1 864 1 506 2 424
Deferred taxation asset - CGT loss (539) - (539) -
Deferred taxation on fair value 
adjustment of investment properties (554) 46 781 (1 616) 54 039

6 297 52 165 2 466 58 174

Reconciliation of tax rate % % % %

Standard tax rate 28.00 29.00 28.00 29.00
Permanent differences (2.04) (0.86) 0.45 (1.03)
STC/NRST 0.23 0.02 0.06 0.02
Change in use (2.47) (0.05) (2.36) (0.05)
Rate change - (5.60) - (4.44)
Prior year adjustment (21.97) (0.16) (23.62) -
Namibia rate differential 0.83 (0.06) - -
Deferred tax asset not recognised 1.12 (0.06) - -
Other 1.19 (1.31) - (1.26)
Effective tax rate 4.89 20.92 2.53 22.24
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Notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 (continued)

Group Group
Cents per Cents per

Group linked unit Group linked unit
2009 2009 2008 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

27 Reconciliation of group net profit to 
headline earnings
Attributable profit after taxation 122 564 41.47 197 250 66.74
Adjusted for:

Net change in fair value of investment 
properties (115 504) (39.08) (222 424) (75.26)
Total tax effects of adjustments (554) (0.19) 46 782 15.83
Negative goodwill arising on acquisition
of subsidiary - - (297) (0.10)
Profit on sale of re-valued properties - - (11 051) (3.74)
Amortisation of debenture premium (1 007) (0.34) (544) (0.18)
Debenture interest 288 755 97.70 260 292 88.07

Headline earnings of linked units 294 254 99.56 270 008 91.36
Straight-line rental accrual net of 
deferred taxation (4 348) (1.47) (5 362) (1.81)

Available for distribution 289 906 98.09 264 646 89.55

Group Group
2009 2008
R000 R000

Calculation of distributable earnings
Net profit from property operations 443 888 411 102
Straight-line income adjustment (6 209) (7 226)
Investment and other income 8 712 9 262
Administrative expenses (20 137) (20 914)
Finance costs (131 358) (124 059)
Taxation (excluding deferred tax on revaluation adjustments) (4 990) (3 519)

Available for distribution 289 906 264 646

Earnings and headline earnings per linked unit are calculated on a weighted average number of units in issue of 
295 550 877 (2008: 295 550 877).
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Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

28 Cash flow statement
The following convention applies to figures 
under “adjustments” below.  Inflows of cash 
are represented by figures in brackets, while 
outflows of cash are represented by figures 
without brackets.

28.1 Reconciliation of operating profit before 
finance costs to cash generated from 
operations
Operating profit before finance costs 432 463 399 450 396 617 363 161
Adjustments

Straight-line rental accrual (6 209) (7 226) (5 379) (8 655)
Investment income (8 712) (9 262) (5 767) (3 940)
Interest rate swap: non cash 
loss/(profit) 234 (595) 234 (595)
Share-based remuneration 5 867 - 5 867 -
Loss on disposal of fixed assets - 4 - -
Depreciation 62 60 45 41

Cash flow from operating profit before 
working capital changes 423 705 382 431 391 617 350 012
Movement in working capital 9 779 11 433 3 325 1 614

Increase in trade and other 
receivables (7 289) (298) (10 280) (3 726)
Increase in trade and other 
payables 17 068 11 731 13 605 5 340

Cash generated from operations 433 484 393 864 394 942 351 626

28.2 Distribution to linked unitholders
Distribution to linked unitholders 
owing at beginning of year 141 864 121 176 141 864 121 176
Debenture interest per income 
statement 288 755 260 292 288 755 260 292
Dividends declared 589 532 589 532
Distribution to linked unitholders 
owing at end of year (159 006) (141 864) (159 006) (141 864)

Distribution paid during the year 272 202 240 136 272 202 240 136

28.3 Taxation paid
Amount owing at beginning 
of year 46 4 253 (1 189) 141
Current taxation (note 26) 2 513 551 698 (1 330)
Secondary taxation on 
companies 302 55 58 55

2 861 4 859 (433) (1 134)
Net amount owing at end of 
year (1 079) (46) 766 1 189

Tax paid during year 1 782 4 813 333 55
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29 Related party transactions
Group
Details of the transactions with 
directors, including key management, 
are set out in the directors’ report.  
Apart from the executive directors, 
no employees are considered to be 
key management personnel.
The following are related party 
transactions:

Sanlam Limited Sale of
property - - 33 000 -

Sanlam Life Insurance Limited Lease
rentals 273 - 254 -

Sanlam Properties (Pty) Ltd Asset
management

and other
fees 14 618 1 339 16 934 1 791

Sanlam Capital Markets Limited Assumption
(“SCM”) of company’s

conditional 
financial

obligations
to senior

management - 7 423 13 450 -
Gensec Property Services Property
Limited trading as JHI management

and other
fees 19 470 1 024 18 062 942

Kuper Legh Property Group Property
management

and other 
fees 5 291 285 5 002 346

Khulela Properties (Pty) Ltd Investment
fee, sales

commission
and due

diligence fee - - 2 200 -

All above amounts due were paid in April 2009 except for the amount owing to SCM.
Sanlam Properties (Proprietary) Limited, Sanlam Life Insurance Limited and Sanlam Capital Markets Limited are
subsidiaries of Sanlam Limited which held 67 487 459 or 22.8% of the issued linked units of Vukile Property Fund Limited
at 31 March 2009.  Sanlam Limited also holds a minority shareholding in Gensec Property Services Limited trading as JHI.
Kuper Legh Property Group is controlled by an individual who is also a significant unitholder in Vukile.

Amounts Amounts
owed to owed to

Amount related Amount related
paid parties paid parties

Type of 2009 2009 2008 2008
transaction R000 R000 R000 R000



30 Segmental analysis
Group income for the year 
ended 31 March 2009

Property revenue 102 785 186 147 384 353 - 673 285
Straight-line rental income 
accrual 1 002 1 920 3 287 - 6 209
Property expenses (39 269) (61 317) (135 020) - (235 606)

Net profit from property 
operations 64 518 126 750 252 620 - 443 888

Group balance sheet at 
31 March 2009

Investment properties 753 260 1 271 453 2 441 994 - 4 466 707
Other non-current assets 24 510 44 056 65 864 11 207 145 637

Current assets 10 001 16 553 34 071 50 518 111 143
Trade and other receivables 4 528 7 081 17 519 - 29 128
Cash and cash equivalents 1 786 3 089 5 414 50 518 60 807
Straight-line rental income 
asset 3 687 6 383 11 138 - 21 208

Non-current liabilities 471 646 796 117 1 528 977 - 2 796 740
Current liabilities 20 473 34 245 67 964 197 544 320 226

Trade and other payables 20 473 34 245 67 964 37 459 160 141
Linked unitholders - - - 159 006 159 006
Taxation payable - - - 1 079 1 079

Group income for the year 
ended 31 March 2008

Property revenue 88 643 187 468 336 616 - 612 727
Straight-line rental income 
accrual 1 288 3 265 2 673 - 7 226
Property expenses (35 350) (56 558) (116 943) - (208 851)

Net profit from property 
operations 54 581 134 175 222 346 - 411 102

Group balance sheet 
at 31 March 2008

Investment properties 640 918 1 210 479 2 354 009 - 4 205 406
Other non-current assets 32 578 61 308 95 804 10 294 199 984
Investment properties 
held for sale 53 450 - - - 53 450

Current assets 6 163 11 682 27 130 32 869 77 844
Trade and other receivables 2 738 5 207 13 894 - 21 839
Cash and cash equivalents 1 236 2 339 4 965 32 869 41 409
Straight-line rental income 
asset 2 189 4 136 8 271 - 14 596

Non-current liabilities 415 478 784 698 1 525 995 - 2 726 171
Current liabilities 15 472 29 260 60 882 151 110 256 724

Trade and other payables 15 472 29 260 60 882 9 200 114 814
Linked unitholders - - - 141 864 141 864
Taxation payable - - - 46 46

Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assets include all operating assets used by a segment and consist principally of investment properties,
receivables and cash.  Assets not directly attributable to a particular segment are allocated to the corporate
segment.  Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities of a segment and consist principally of outstanding
accounts.  Segment assets and liabilities do not include deferred tax.
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Industrial Commercial Retail Corporate Total
R000 R000 R000 R000 R000
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Notes to the annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2009 (continued)

Group Group
2009 2008
R000 R000

31 Capital management
The group’s capital management objectives are

to ensure the group’s ability to continue as a going concern; and
to provide an adequate return to unitholders; 

by pricing services commensurate with the level of risk.
The group monitors capital on the basis of the carrying amount of equity plus its 
unitholders’ linked debenture loans, less cash equivalents and cash flow hedges 
recognised in equity.

Capital for the reporting periods under review is summarised as follows:
Total equity 2 679 521 2 631 278
Cash flow hedges 16 493 (55 845)
Cash and cash equivalents (60 807) (41 409)
Capital 2 635 207 2 534 024

Total equity 2 679 521 2 631 278
Borrowings 1 283 286 1 199 944
Overall financing 3 962 807 3 831 222

Capital-to-overall financing ratio 0.66 0.66

The board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base, comprising its unitholders’ interest, so as to maintain investor,
creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.  It is the group’s stated purpose to
deliver long-term sustainable growth in distributions per linked unit.  Generally at least 99% of net profits, as defined in the
debenture trust deed, are distributed on a six monthly basis.
The board of directors monitors the level of distributions to unitholders and ensures compliance with the terms of the
debenture trust deed.  There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the year.  Neither
the company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000

32 Future minimum lease income
Receivable within one year 481 932 485 416 364 778 343 343
Receivable between one and five years 809 391 875 237 608 778 681 880
Receivable after five years 65 992 87 222 51 145 68 461

Total future contractual lease revenue 1 357 315 1 447 875 1 024 701 1 093 684
Rental straight-line adjustment already accrued (79 024) (72 815) (61 666) (56 287)
Future straight-line lease revenue 1 278 291 1 375 060 963 035 1 037 397



33 Commitments
Operating lease commitments

Payable within one year 282 349 282 349
Payable between one and five years 95 564 95 564

377 913 377 913

Maintenance and other property related 
contracts

Payable within one year 24 882 55 246 21 204 27 623
Payable between one and five years 51 102 116 834 44 328 97 712

75 984 172 080 65 532 125 335

Capital commitments
Authorised and contracted 30 262 45 200 28 933 14 500
Authorised and not contracted 46 091 40 110 25 883 39 250

It is intended that the above capital expenditure will be funded by way of bank facilities and surplus cash.
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Group Group Company Company
2009 2008 2009 2008
R000 R000 R000 R000



BPI HOUSE(5)

LOCATION Independence Avenue
Windhoek, Namibia

GROSS LETTABLE AREA 12 841m2

OCCUPANCY 93.94%
DIRECTORS’ VALUATION R105.4 million

5

4

ARIVIA.KOM BUILDING(4)

LOCATION 79 Randjespark
Midrand, Gauteng

GROSS LETTABLE AREA 15 634m2

OCCUPANCY 100%
DIRECTORS’ VALUATION R133.7 million



For the top 25 properties refer to page 7 and for the property portfolio refer to pages 59 to 61.
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PHOENIX PLAZA(6)

LOCATION 19 Parthenon Street
Durban, KwaZulu-Natal

GROSS LETTABLE AREA 24 162m2

OCCUPANCY 99.57%
DIRECTORS’ VALUATION R356.6 million

6

4
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Unitholders’ analysis
at 31 March 2009

Analysis of unitholdings
1-1 000 803 36.42 63 847 0.02

1 001-10 000 864 39.18 4 444 027 1.50

10 001-100 000 418 18.96 12 659 101 4.28

100 001-1 000 000 91 4.13 28 082 927 9.50

1 000 001 and more 29 1.31 250 300 975 84.70

Total 2 205 100.00 295 550 877 100.00

Major beneficial unitholders 
(5% and more of the linked units in issue)

Sanlam Limited 67 487 459 22.83

Lazarus Capital (Pty) Ltd (formerly Clidet No. 598 (Pty) Ltd) 73 887 720 25.00

Major institutional unitholders 
(5% and more of the linked units in issue) 

Stanlib 44 458 536 15.04

Sanlam Investment Managers 15 202 630 5.14

Unitholder spread
Non-public 7 0.32 141 685 279 47.94

Directors 5 0.23 310 100 0.10

Holdings > 10% of issued capital 2 0.09 141 375 179 47.84

Public 2 198 99.68 153 865 598 52.06

Total 2 205 100.00 295 550 877 100.00

Distribution of unitholders
Banks 8 0.36 6 224 117 2.11

Close corporations 18 0.82 378 310 0.13

Individuals 1 764 80.00 21 493 743 7.27

Insurance companies 4 0.18 74 228 284 25.12

Medical aid schemes 6 0.27 307 642 0.10

Collective investment schemes and mutual funds 87 3.95 83 255 535 28.16

Trusts 186 8.44 5 139 046 1.74

Other corporations 43 1.95 3 199 428 1.08

Pension funds 68 3.08 21 450 074 7.26

Private companies 21 0.95 79 874 698 27.03

Total 2 205 100.00 295 550 877 100.00

Number % of total
of % of total Number issued

holders unitholders of units share capital
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Schedule of properties

Properties owned by
the company
Commercial

Arivia.Kom Building Gauteng (Midrand) 15 634 78 238 Apr 04 133 742 59.97
DLV Building Gauteng (Pretoria) 2 872 13 469 Apr 04 21 448 20.05 72.73
VWL Building Gauteng (Pretoria) 16 933 67 346 Apr 04 85 608 54.03
Barlow Place Gauteng (Sandton) 2 460 8 660 Apr 04 22 575 74.67
Glencairn Building Gauteng (Johannesburg) 13 378 41 875 Apr 04 40 402 48.79 3.73
Mutual and Federal Gauteng (Pretoria) 12 093 54 712 Apr 04 66 247 33.93
Pinepark W/Cape (Cape Town) 2 804 13 347 Apr 04 21 124 62.99
Midtown Building Gauteng (Pretoria) 8 086 34 947 Apr 04 36 953 46.04
Eva Park Gauteng (Johannesburg) 10 918 30 657 Apr 04 59 734 51.61 13.54
Louis Leipoldt Hospital W/Cape (Bellville) 22 311 106 937 Apr 04 156 891 58.24
Nelspruit Prorom Mpumalanga (Nelspruit) 6 181 16 108 Apr 04 28 238 52.74 7.09
Bedfordview GIS Gauteng (Johannesburg) 6 762 26 396 Apr 04 34 587 35.88 0.31
Centurion  Sanlameerzicht Gauteng (Centurion) 5 180 17 979 Apr 04 34 831 51.62 5.26
227 Andries Street Gauteng (Pretoria) 9 604 12 990 Apr 04 32 284 47.60
East London
Sanlam Park E/Cape (East London) 9 069 59 236 Apr 04 62 659 50.16
Durban Embassy KwaZulu-Natal (Durban) 32 346 107 041 Apr 04 209 021 56.28 0.97
Oakhurst Parktown Gauteng (Johannesburg) 9 085 34 400 Mar 06 60 084 62.38
50 6th Road Hyde Park Gauteng (Sandton) 4 181 56 573 Sept 06 58 129 110.51
Waymark Offices Gauteng (Centurion) 3 480 34 174 Mar 08 34 679 71.55
West Street Houghton Gauteng (Houghton) 4 415 33 504 Sept 07 36 211 68.35 6.17

 197 792 848 589 1 235 447

Industrial
Sony Building Gauteng (Midrand) 11 274 33 530 Apr 04 53 142 47.14
Supra Hino Gauteng (Johannesburg) 2 840 14 264 Apr 04 21 614 48.15
Hellman International Gauteng (Johannesburg) 5 241 5 807 Apr 04 26 119 42.55
Valley View
Industrial Park KwaZulu-Natal (Durban) 30 790 53 795 Apr 04 57 018 22.85
Village Main
Industrial Park Gauteng (Johannesburg) 8 057 5 400 Apr 04 14 125 24.14
John Griffin Gauteng (Johannesburg) 9 774 5 298 Apr 04 13 206 13.63
AAD W/Cape (Cape Town) 3 024 7 845 Apr 04 11 982 32.65
Richmond Park KwaZulu-Natal (Durban) 7 940 10 800 Apr 04 18 925 31.85
Atlas Road Complex Gauteng (Johannesburg) 18 516 13 551 Apr 04 29 305 21.06
Centurion N1 Gauteng (Centurion) 11 413 12 990 Apr 04 39 019 34.48 9.05
Midrand Allandale
Undeveloped Land Gauteng (Midrand) - 5 655 Apr 04 29 500 -
Parow Industrial
Park W/Cape (Cape Town) 19 834 28 059 Apr 04 55 043 23.40 8.63
Midrand Allandale Park Gauteng (Midrand) 21 395 23 175 Apr 04 64 528 27.68 15.32
Germiston R24 Gauteng (Germiston) 34 977 53 520 Apr 04 126 204 27.65 2.77
Randburg Trevallyn Gauteng (Randburg) 32 006 48 324 Apr 04 104 097 30.20 0.73

217 081 322 013 663 827

Directors’
Effective valuation Weighted

Gross Purchase date of at 31 Mar average
Region lettable price acqui- 2009 rental Vacancy
(Town) area (m2) (R000) sition (R000) (R/m2 pm) (%)
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Properties owned by
the company (continued)

Retail

Botbyl Subaru Building Gauteng (Pretoria) 4 603 23 637 Apr 04 26 702 71.27 8.78

Truworths Centre Mpumalanga (Nelspruit) 1 920 7 336 Apr 04 25 825 90.11

Hillcrest Centre Gauteng (Johannesburg) 5 963 24 333 Apr 04 14 991 37.22 47.19

Grosvenor Shopping

Centre Gauteng (Johannesburg) 4 664 31 381 Apr 04 35 839 83.98 2.89

Truworths Building Gauteng (Johannesburg) 6 919 40 550 Apr 04 59 583 66.70

Pine Crest Centre KwaZulu-Natal (Durban) 40 485 99 338 Apr 04 195 120 83.92 2.30

Lichtenburg Sanlam

Centre North West (Lichtenburg) 8 460 18 706 Apr 04 31 472 35.83 5.67

Barlows Audi** W/Cape (Cape Town) 3 100 24 025 Apr 04 35 796 105.87

Midrand Sanitary City Gauteng (Midrand) 6 342 15 277 Apr 04 29 863 31.89

Bloemfontein Plaza

& Parkade Free State (Bloemfontein) 38 438 45 726 Apr 04 120 772 43.80 0.31

Pongola Shopping

Centre KwaZulu-Natal (Pongola) 9 771 27 124 Apr 04 42 646 44.87 6.26

Daveyton Shopping

Centre Gauteng (Johannesburg) 16 983 49 883 Apr 04 118 751 59.89 2.47

Dobsonville Shopping

Centre Gauteng (Johannesburg) 23 124 56 118 Apr 04 151 145 63.03 0.99

Durban Phoenix Plaza KwaZulu-Natal (Durban) 24 162 189 140 Apr 04 356 645 140.76 0.43

Randburg Square Gauteng (Randburg) 51 370 70 668 Apr 04 250 940 43.79 2.89

Moratiwa Crossing Limpopo (Jane Furse) 12 356 61 540 Nov 07 73 961 63.19

  258 660 784 782 1 570 051

Company total 673 533 1 955 384 3 469 325

Properties owned by
a subsidiary (MICC)
Commercial

Randburg Triangle Gauteng (Randburg) 3 047 12 725 Oct 03 12 258 43.13

Kleinfontein Offices Gauteng (Johannesburg) 5 183 6 413 Oct 03 12 823 36.66 2.90

De Tijger Office Park W/Cape (Cape Town) 4 158 25 856 Oct 03 30 027 60.68 14.33

12 388 44 994 55 108

Industrial

Randburg Tungsten Gauteng (Randburg) 10 365 13 336 Oct 03 30 372 33.24 4.61

Robertville Mini Factories Gauteng (Johannesburg) 28 106 15 983 Oct 03 47 808 22.64

Ndabeni Business Park W/Cape (Cape Town) 9 431 16 898 Oct 03 22 366 29.32

 47 902 46 217 100 546

** Leasehold property

Directors’
Effective valuation Weighted

Gross Purchase date of at 31 Mar average
Region lettable price acqui- 2009 rental Vacancy
(Town) area (m2) (R000) sition (R000) (R/m2 pm) (%)

Schedule of properties (continued)
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Properties owned by a
subsidiary (MICC) (continued)

Retail

Roodepoort Hillfox

Power Centre Gauteng (Roodepoort) 36 103 62 098 Oct 03 127 438 34.94 7.95

Mala Plaza Limpopo (Malamulele) 4 913 11 758 Oct 03 23 934 64.71

Masingita Spar Centre Limpopo (Giyani) 5 486 13 947 Oct 03 20 781 46.00 6.00

Piet Retief Shopping

Centre Mpumalanga (Piet Retief) 7 487 20 818 Oct 03 35 128 56.61

Nelspruit Game Centre Mpumalanga (Nelspruit) 5 600 24 432 Oct 03 23 456 86.40

Qualbert Centre KwaZulu-Natal (Durban) 4 777 24 432 Oct 03 43 947 96.34

Kokstad Game

Centre KwaZulu-Natal (Kokstad) 12 567 37 666 Oct 03 75 806 50.86 4.14

The Victoria

Centre KwaZulu-Natal (Pietermaritzburg) 10 682 55 685 Oct 03 87 010 76.20 2.92

Meadowdale Mall Gauteng (Johannesburg) 35 339 66 170 Oct 03 96 340 31.01 4.75

122 954 317 006 533 840

Namibian Properties

Oshakati Shopping Centre Namibia (Oshakati) 22 001 76 929 Oct 03 117 035 51.00 5.04

Oshakati Beares Furnishers Namibia (Oshakati) 2 566 4 502 Oct 03 4 469 20.05

Oshikango Ellerines

Centre Namibia (Oshikango) 5 967 19 542 Oct 03 43 181 73.60

Ondangwa Shoprite

Checkers Namibia (Ondangwa) 5 739 17 959 Oct 03 30 797 54.04

Katatura Checkers Centre Namibia (Katatura) 10 586 41 157 Oct 03 57 965 65.84 2.85

Rundu Ellerines Namibia (Rundu) 1 283 4 330 Oct 03 2 706 7.00 88.31

Katima Mulilo Pep

Stores Namibia (Katima Mulilo) 2 472 6 149 Oct 03 10 849 52.36

BPI House Namibia (Windhoek) 12 841 110 803 Jul 07 105 377 70.41 6.06

63 455 281 371 372 379

MICC total 246 699 689 588 1 061 873

Group total 920 232 2 644 972 4 531 198

Directors’
Effective valuation Weighted

Gross Purchase date of at 31 Mar average
Region lettable price acqui- 2009 rental Vacancy
(Town) area (m2) (R000) sition (R000) (R/m2 pm) (%)
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Notice of annual general meeting

General notes
A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general
meeting may appoint a proxy to attend, speak and vote
in his or her stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the
company.
All forms of proxy or other instruments of authority must
be deposited with the transfer secretaries, Link Market
Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited, 5th Floor,
11 Diagonal Street, Johannesburg, 2001, (PO Box 4844,
Johannesburg, 2000) so as to be received no later than
11:00 on Tuesday, 8 September 2009.
Unitholders who are companies or other body corporates
may, by resolution of its directors or other governing body,
authorise any person to act as its representative at the
annual general meeting.
Unitholders who have not dematerialised their linked units
and own-name dematerialised unitholders who are unable
to attend the annual general meeting and wish to be
represented thereat, must complete the attached form of
proxy in accordance with the instructions therein and
return it to the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services
South Africa (Proprietary) Limited, 5th Floor, 11 Diagonal
Street, Johannesburg, 2001, (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg,
2000) so as to be received no later than 11:00 on Tuesday,
8 September 2009.
Unitholders who have dematerialised their linked units
with a CSDP or broker, other than with own-name
registration, should advise their CSDP or broker with their
voting instruction in terms of the agreement entered into
between them and their CSDP or broker.  Unitholders
who have dematerialised their linked units and wish to
attend the annual general meeting must contact their
CSDP or broker who will furnish them with the necessary
authority to attend the annual general meeting.
Unitholders who have dematerialised their linked units,
other than with own-name registration, must not return
the form of proxy to the transfer secretaries.  Their
instructions must be sent to their CSDP or broker for
action.
On a show of hands, every member present in person or
every proxy representing unitholders, shall have only one
vote, irrespective of the number of linked units he or she
holds.
On a poll, every unitholder present in person or represented
by proxy shall have one vote for every linked unit held by
such unitholder.
A resolution put to the vote shall be decided on a show
of hands unless, before or on the declaration of the results
on the show of hands, a poll shall be demanded by any
person entitled to vote at the annual general meeting and
unless a poll is so demanded, a declaration by the chairman
that a resolution has, on a show of hands been carried,
or carried unanimously, or by a regular majority, or lost,
and an entry to that effect in the minute book of the
company, shall be conclusive evidence of the fact, without
proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded
in favour of, or against, such resolution.  If a poll is so
demanded, the resolution put to the vote shall be decided
on a poll.

By order of the board
Vukile Property Fund Limited

Emma Yates
Company secretary

Roodepoort
25 May 2009

Notice is hereby given that the fifth annual general meeting
of the unitholders of Vukile Property Fund Limited (“Vukile”
or “the company”) will be held at Second Floor, Meersig
Building, Constantia Boulevard, Constantia Kloof, 1709,
Gauteng, on Wednesday, 9 September 2009 at 11:00 for
the following business:

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following resolutions
with or without modification as ordinary resolutions:

1 Ordinary resolution no. 1
Annual financial statements
To consider and adopt the audited annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2009, including the directors’
report and the report of the auditors.

2 Ordinary resolution no. 2
Re-appointment of auditors
To consider the re-appointment of Grant Thornton as auditors
of the company until the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting.

3 Ordinary resolution no. 3
Auditors’ remuneration
To authorise the directors to fix and pay the auditors’ remuneration
for the year ended 31 March 2009.

4 Ordinary resolution no. 4
Non-executive directors’ remuneration
To resolve that the remuneration for the non-executive directors
for the period from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010 be increased
by 8%. This includes all fixed annual fees and attendance fees
for the board and board committees.

5 Ordinary resolution no. 5
Re-election of directors
To re-elect the following retiring directors, who retire in terms of
article 72 of the company’s articles of association, but being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
5.1 Mr HSC Bester
5.2 Mr PS Moyanga and
5.3 Mr MH Serebro.

Brief CVs of all the directors appear on page 14 of the annual
report.

6 Ordinary resolution no. 6
Issue of shares
To authorise the directors to allot and issue a portion of the
unissued ordinary shares of R0.01 each in the capital of the
company up to a maximum of 5% of the issued shares of the
company, at such time or times to such persons, company or
companies and upon such terms and conditions as they may
determine, subject to the requirements of the Companies Act,
the Corporate Laws Amendment Act and the JSE Limited,
provided that each ordinary share is linked to a debenture of
R4.90 each, such  authority to expire at the next annual general
meeting of the company.

7 Ordinary resolution no. 7
Implementation of resolutions
To authorise that any director of the company, and where
applicable the secretary of the company, do all such things,
sign all such documents and take all actions as may be necessary
to implement the above ordinary resolutions.

8 To transact such other business as may be transacted at
an annual general meeting.
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VUKILE PROPERTY FUND LIMITED
(“Vukile ” or “the company”)        (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration Number 2002/027194/06)       JSE Code: VKE       NSX Code: VKN        ISIN:  ZAE000056370

Form of proxy
Annual general meeting

FOR USE BY UNITHOLDERS WHO HAVE NOT DEMATERIALISED THEIR LINKED UNITS AND OWN-NAME DEMATERIALISED
UNITHOLDERS AT THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF UNITHOLDERS TO BE HELD AT SECOND FLOOR, MEERSIG BUILDING,
CONSTANTIA BOULEVARD, CONSTANTIA KLOOF 1709 ON WEDNESDAY, 9 SEPTEMBER 2009 AT 11:00.

Unitholders who have dematerialised their linked units, other than with own-name registration, must inform their CSDP or broker
of their intention to attend the annual general meeting in order to obtain necessary authorisations or alternatively, should they not
wish to attend, they must advise their CSDP or broker as to what action they wish to take.  This must be done in terms of the
agreement entered into between them and their CSDP or broker.  Unitholders who have dematerialised their linked units, other than
with own-name registration, must not return the form of proxy to the transfer secretaries.  Their instructions must be sent to their
CSDP or broker for action.

I/We (Please print full names)

of (Please print address)

being the registered holder of linked units in Vukile hereby appoint

1. of or failing him/her

2. of or failing him/her

the chairman of the annual general meeting of unitholders as my/our proxy to attend, speak and vote or abstain from voting on
my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the unitholders to be held at Second Floor, Meersig Building, Constantia Boulevard,
Constantia Kloof, 1709, Gauteng on Wednesday, 9 September 2009 at 11:00 and at any adjournment or postponement thereof,
on the resolutions to be proposed at the annual general meeting as follows:

Please indicate with an “X” the instructions to your proxy in the spaces provided below.  In the absence of such indication, the proxy
will be entitled to vote or abstain from voting as he/she sees fit.  (See notes overleaf)

For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution no. 1: To receive and consider the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2009

Ordinary resolution no. 2: To re-appoint Grant Thornton as auditors
Ordinary resolution no. 3: To authorise the directors to fix and pay the

auditors’ remuneration
Ordinary resolution no. 4: To approve the increase in the non-executive

directors’ remuneration for the period from
1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010

Ordinary resolution no. 5: To re-elect to following directors retiring by rotation:
5.1 Mr HSC Bester
5.2 Mr PS Moyanga
5.3 Mr MH Serebro

Ordinary resolution no. 6: To place the unissued shares under the control
of the directors

Ordinary resolution no. 7: To authorise the directors and secretary to
implement the ordinary and special resolutions

and generally to act as my/our proxy at the said annual general meeting of the unitholders.

Signed at this                             day of 2009

Signature Assisted by (where applicable)

Tel No. Cell No. Fax No.
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1 This form of proxy shall serve as proxy for both shares and debentures in Vukile.

2 Each member is entitled to appoint one or more proxies (none of whom need be a member of the company) to attend, speak and
vote in place of that member at the annual general meeting of unitholders.

3 Every person present and entitled to vote at the annual general meeting as a unitholder or as a proxy or as a representative of a
body corporate shall, on a show of hands, have one vote only, irrespective of the number of linked units such person holds or
represents, but in the event of a poll, a unitholder holding linked units will be entitled to one vote per linked unit held.

4 Please insert the relevant number of linked units and indicate with an ”X” in the appropriate space on the face hereof, how you wish
your votes to be cast.  If you return this form of proxy duly signed but without any specific directions, the proxy may vote or abstain
from voting as he/she thinks fit.

5 A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank spaces need not be signed or initialled.  Any alteration or correction
must be initialled by the authorised signatory/ies.

6 The chairman of the annual general meeting shall be entitled to decline to accept the authority of a person signing this form of proxy:
(a) under a power of attorney; or
(b) on behalf of a company,
unless that person’s power of attorney or authority is deposited with the transfer secretaries by no later than 11:00 on Tuesday,
8 September 2009.

7 You may insert the name of any person(s) whom you wish to appoint as your proxy in the blank space(s) provided for that purpose.

8 The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the member who grants this proxy from attending the annual
general meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof should such
member wish to do so.

9 Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached
to this form of proxy unless previously recorded by the transfer secretaries of Vukile or waived by the chairman of the annual general
meeting.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject any form of proxy not completed and/or received in accordance
with these notes or with the Articles of Association and Debenture Trust Deed of Vukile.

10 Completed forms of proxy should be returned to the transfer secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa (Proprietary) Limited,
5th Floor, 11 Diagonal Street, Johannesburg, 2001, (PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000) to be received no later than 11:00 on
Tuesday, 8 September 2009.

VUKILE PROPERTY FUND LIMITED
(“Vukile ” or “the company”)        (Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)

(Registration Number 2002/027194/06)       JSE Code: VKE       NSX Code: VKN        ISIN:  ZAE000056370

Notes to the form of proxy
Annual general meeting
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n(a) Executive
(b) Chairman of audit and risk committee
(c) Member of audit and risk committee
(d) Chairman of human resources and nomination committee
(e) Member of human resources and nomination committee
(f) Chairman of investment committee
(g) Member of investment committee

Legal advisors
Brink Cohen le Roux Inc

BCLR House
19 West Street
Houghton
Johannesburg, 2198
PO Box 2404
Houghton, 2041

Transfer secretaries
Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd

5th floor
11 Diagonal Street
Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 4844
Johannesburg, 2000

Listing information
Vukile was listed on the JSE Limited on 24 June 2004 and
on the Namibian Stock Exchange on 11 July 2007.

JSE Code: VKE
NSX code: VKN
ISIN:  ZAE000056370
Sector:  Financials – Real Estate

Investor and media relations
Helen McKane of du Plessis Associates

Central House
40 Central Street
Houghton, 2198
Tel: +27 (0)11 728 4701
Fax: +27 (0)11 728 2547
E-mail: vukile@dpapr.com
PO Box 87386
Houghton, 2041

Directors
Anton Dirk Botha(e) (Chairman)
Gerhard van Zyl(a,g) (Chief executive)
Michael John Potts(a,g) (Financial director)
Sidney Bernic(e,g)

Hendrik Schalk Conradie Bester(b,g)

Peter John Cook(c,d)

Jonathan Mlungisi Hlongwane(e,g)

Peter Sipho Moyanga(c)

Mervyn Hymie Serebro(c,f)

Urbanus (Banus) Johannes van der Walt

Secretary and registered office
Emma Yates

2nd Floor Meersig Building
Constantia Boulevard
Constantia Kloof, 1709
PO Box 5995
Weltevreden Park, 1715

Auditors
Grant Thornton

137 Daisy Street
Corner Grayston Drive
Sandown, 2196
Private Bag X28
Benmore, 2010

Principal bankers
Absa Bank Limited

3rd Floor
Absa Towers East
160 Main Street
Johannesburg, 2001
PO Box 7335
Johannesburg, 2000

Sponsors
Barnard Jacobs Mellet Corporate Finance (Pty) Ltd

Barnard Jacobs Mellet House
Ground floor
24 Fricker Road
Illovo Corner, Illovo
PO Box 62200
Marshalltown, 2107

Corporate information
Vukile Property Fund Limited
Registration Number:  2002/027194/06

Our website is regularly updated to provide the latest information on the company.
www.vukileprops.co.za



SONY SOUTH AFRICA
BUSINESS PARK(7)

LOCATION 179 15th Road, Randjespark
Midrand, Gauteng

GROSS LETTABLE AREA 11 274m2

OCCUPANCY 100%
DIRECTORS’ VALUATION R53.1 million
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Unitholders’
diary

Financial year end 31 March 2009

Publication of
abridged financial
statements 25 May 2009

Financial report
and notice of
AGM posted by 30 June 2009

AGM 9 September 2009

Interim period
end 30 September 2009

MORATIWA CROSSING(8)

LOCATION Main Road R579, Monsterlus
Jane Furse, Limpopo

GROSS LETTABLE AREA 12 356m2

OCCUPANCY 100%
DIRECTORS’ VALUATION R73.9 million

Designed and produced by du Plessis Associates

8

For the top 25 properties refer to page 7 and for the property portfolio refer to pages 59 to 61.
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